Modelling Climate Change Impacts on Pesticide Leaching

Uncertainty and Scenario Analysis at Field and Regional Scales

Karin Steffens

Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences Department of Soil and Environment Uppsala

Doctoral Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Uppsala 2015 Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae 2015:35

Cover: Agricultural landscape in the south west of Sweden. (original photo: J. Kreuger; artistic rendering with the GIMP software)

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN (print version) 978-91-576-8268-0 ISBN (electronic version) 978-91-576-8269-7 © 2015 Karin Steffens, Uppsala Print: SLU Service/Repro, Uppsala 2015

Modelling Climate Change Impacts on Pesticide Leaching. Uncertainty and Scenario Analysis at Field and Regional Scales

Abstract

Climate change projections for Sweden indicate increases in both temperature and precipitation. In a warmer and wetter climate, weed and pest pressures are likely to increase, which might in turn trigger an increased use of pesticides. This thesis analysed potential impacts of climate change on pesticide losses from Swedish arable soils under present (1970-1999) and future (2070-2099) climate conditions. The pesticide fate model MACRO was used to evaluate the direct effects of climate change on pesticide losses to tile-drains at the field scale accounting for uncertainties related to model structure (i.e. the description of temperature dependent processes), parameters and climate input data. At the regional scale, MACRO-SE was used to assess the direct and the indirect effects of climate change (i.e. changes in cropping patterns and herbicide use) on the leaching of herbicides towards groundwater in southern Sweden.

At the field scale, the results showed that differences in model structures affected predictions of pesticide losses under climate change, despite large parameter uncertainty. The effect of climate input uncertainty was more important than the effect of parameter uncertainty for predicted changes in pesticide losses between present and future climates, while it was the opposite for simulated absolute pesticide losses. The direction and magnitude of predicted changes in pesticide losses depended on pesticide properties, application season and climate scenario. In the regional scale study, the area at risk of groundwater contamination was only slightly affected by direct effects of climate change that were included in the analysis.

The main conclusions are that (1) the relative importance of different sources of uncertainty depends on the pesticide properties, application season and whether the focus is on absolute losses or predicted changes, (2) ensembles of climate scenarios are necessary for robust assessments and (3) indirect effects need to be considered alongside the direct effects as predictions can be significantly affected. Despite large uncertainties, this thesis highlights the need to strengthen policies, to adopt improved mitigation measures and to implement management strategies that will limit pesticide use and minimize the risks of contamination of ground- and surface waters.

Keywords: soil; water; pesticide; modelling; MACRO model; climate change; regional scale; uncertainty; ensemble modelling; direct and indirect effects;

Author's address: Karin Steffens, SLU, Department of Soil and Environment, P.O. Box 7014, 750 07 Uppsala, Sweden *E-mail:* Karin.Steffens@slu.se

Dedication

To my grandmother.

Predictions are uncertain, especially about the future. (Attributed to Niels Bohr)

All models are wrong, but some are useful. (George E.P. Box)

Contents

List o	of Public	cations	7
Abbr	eviation	s and Glossary	9
1	Introd	duction	11
2	Aims		13
3	Back	ground	15
3.1	Clima	te Change Projections and Impact Studies	15
	3.1.1	Climate Change Projections	15
	3.1.2	Climate Change Impact Studies	17
	3.1.3	Cascade of uncertainty	18
	3.1.4	Ensemble modelling	19
3.2	Pestic	cide Fate in Soils	19
	3.2.1	Fate and Transport Processes	20
	3.2.2	Modelling Pesticide Fate and Transport	22
	3.2.3	Regional Scale Modelling	22
	3.2.4	Uncertainty Analysis	24
3.3	Direct	t and Indirect Effects of Climate Change on Pesticide Leaching	25
	3.3.1	Direct Effects	25
	3.3.2	Indirect effects	26
	3.3.3	Previous Quantitative Assessments	27
4	Mater	rials and Methods	29
4.1	The S	Study Set-ups	29
4.2	Field	Scale	30
	4.2.1	Site	30
	4.2.2	Impact Model: MACRO	30
	4.2.3	Calibration	32
	4.2.4	Prediction Scenarios	34
4.3	Regional Scale		37
	4.3.1	Study Region	38
	4.3.2	Impact Model: MACRO-SE	38
	4.3.3	Input Data	39
	4.3.4	Future Scenarios of Herbicide Use	42
	4.3.5	Model Evaluation against Monitoring Data	43

5	Results and Discussion	45	
5.1	Field scale	45	
	5.1.1 Calibration Results	45	
	5.1.2 Pesticide Losses under Climate Change	48	
	5.1.3 Model Structural Differences vs. Parameter Uncertainty	50	
	5.1.4 Climate Input Uncertainty vs. Parameter Uncertainty	50	
5.2	Regional Scale	52	
	5.2.1 Model Evaluation against Monitoring Data	52	
	5.2.2 Simulated Field-Scale Leachate Concentrations	53	
	5.2.3 Aggregated Herbicide Concentrations in Leachate	55	
5.3	Uncertainties	60	
	5.3.1 Different Sources of Uncertainty	60	
	5.3.2 Uncertainties in Regional Scale Assessments	60	
5.4	Other Potential Direct & Indirect Effects of Climate Change	63	
	5.4.1 Intensity and Frequency of Rainfall Events	63	
	5.4.2 Soil properties	66	
	5.4.3 Land-use	66	
	5.4.4 Crop development	67	
	5.4.5 Pesticide compounds	67	
5.5	How Representative are these Results?	68	
6	Conclusions	71	
7	Implications and Future Research	73	
7.1	Mitigation Measures to Reduce Pesticide Leaching Risks	73	
7.2	Future Research Topics	74	
8	Sammanfattning (Swedish Summary)	77	
Refe	erences	79	
Acknowledgements			

List of Publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I Steffens, K., M. Larsbo, J. Moeys, N. Jarvis, and E. Lewan (2013). Predicting pesticide leaching under climate change: importance of model structure and parameter uncertainty. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment* 172, 24-34.
- II Steffens, K., M. Larsbo, J. Moeys, E. Kjellström, N. Jarvis, and E. Lewan (2014). Modelling pesticide leaching under climate change: parameter vs. climate input uncertainty. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences* 18, 479-491.
- III Steffens, K., N. Jarvis, E. Lewan, B. Lindström, J. Kreuger, E. Kjellström, J. Moeys (2015). Direct and indirect effects of climate change on herbicide leaching – a regional scale assessment in Sweden. *Science of the Total Environment* 514, 239-249.

Papers I-III are reproduced with the kind permission of the publishers Elsevier (I, III) and Copernicus Publications (II).

The contribution of Karin Steffens to the papers included in this thesis was as follows:

- I Planned the study together with the co-authors, performed the study (input data preparation, model simulations, data analysis and interpretation) and the writing with some assistance of the co-authors.
- II Planned the study together with the co-authors, performed the study (input data preparation, model simulations, data analysis and interpretation) and the writing with some assistance of the co-authors.
- III Planned the study together with the second, the third and the last author of the paper, performed the study (input data preparation, model simulations, data analysis and interpretation) and the writing with some assistance of all co-authors.

Abbreviations and Glossary

Abbreviations

Aut	Autumn
CKB	Centre for Chemical Pesticides
CS	Climate scenario
EF	Model Efficiency
EPC	Ensemble of Parameter Combinations
FST	FOOTPRINT soil type
GCM	Global Climate Model (usually General Circulation Model)
GHG	Greenhouse gas
GIS	Geographic Information System
GLUE	Generalized Likelihood Uncertainty Estimation
GSS	Southern plains of Götaland (sv: Götalands Södra Slättbygder)
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
LOD	Limit of detection
MA	Maize
Ms	Moderately sorbed compounds
MV	Model version
OM	Organic matter
PAS	Pesticide Application Scenario
PB	Peas (and beans)
PCB	Polychlorinated biphenyl
PPDB	Pesticide Properties DataBase
PT	Potatoes
RCM	Regional Climate Model
RCP	Representative Concentration Pathway; see 3.1.1 and IPCC (2013b)
SB	Sugar beets
SC	Spring cereals
Spr	Spring

)

Glossary

Climate projection	Estimates of future climate derived with climate models and the help of scenarios. It can be considered an conditional expectation reflecting what can be expected if this or that happens (WMO, 2015).
Climate Scenario (CS)	Climate model projections downscaled to local (or regional) scale that can be used to drive an impact model.
Downscaling	Transfer of large scale outputs of climate models to local or regional scales.
Ensemble modelling	Use of different models, scenarios or downscaling methods in parallel to illustrate and account for uncertainties.
Epistemic uncertainty	Uncertainty due to imperfect knowledge; see Walker et al. (2003) or Curry & Webster (2011).
Impact model	Refers to any model that is used within a climate change impact study, driven with climate time series (e.g. a pesticide fate model such as MACRO).
Pesticides	Chemical substances used to control weeds, pests and diseases in order to secure yields; also called plant protection products. Herbicides are pesticides specifically used to control weeds.
Pesticide Application	A unique combination of a pesticide applied on a certain
Scenario (PAS) Prediction scenarios	crop at a certain time with a certain dose. Simulation runs with calibrated versions of MACRO for
r rediction section of	present and future climate conditions.
Scenario	Scenarios provide plausible descriptions, i.e. based on coherent and internally consistent assumptions, of how the system or its driving forces (e.g. atmospheric GHG) may develop in the future (Walker <i>et al.</i> , 2003).

1 Introduction

In the coming decades, we face the challenge of producing food to feed the growing world population with finite resources (Schneider et al., 2011; Wirsenius et al., 2010) in a socially, environmentally and economically sustainable way. The effects of climate change will add to the growing competition for water, energy and land resources (Godfray et al., 2010). In Sweden, a warmer and wetter climate in the future is likely to improve conditions for crop production (e.g. Olesen et al., 2011; Trnka et al., 2011), but also to increase pest and weed pressures (e.g. Patterson et al., 1999). Pesticides, which are used to control pests, weeds and diseases and secure yields, can have harmful effects on the environment and pose a threat to human health due to contamination of drinking water or food that contains pesticide residues (Tirado et al., 2010; Miraglia et al., 2009). Pesticides are regularly found in groundwater and surface waters in Sweden and around the world (e.g. Balderacchi et al., 2013; Malaguerra et al., 2012; Holvoet et al., 2007; Kreuger, 1998) and negative effects on non-target organisms in the environment are frequently reported (e.g. van der Sluijs et al., 2015; Malaj et al., 2014; Moschet et al., 2014). Since the remediation of contaminated groundwater is difficult and very slow (Vonberg et al., 2014), future drinking water resources need to be protected already today.

Climate change might lead to increased pesticide use (Delcour *et al.*, 2015), is likely to strongly impact pesticide exposure (Schiedek *et al.*, 2007) and the distribution of pesticides in the environment (Noyes *et al.*, 2009), might increase their toxicity (Noyes *et al.*, 2009; Schiedek *et al.*, 2007) and degrade drinking water quality (Delpla *et al.*, 2009). The effects of climate change on pesticide fate and transport to ground- and surface waters are very diverse and might be difficult to predict (Bloomfield *et al.*, 2006). Very few studies have previously attempted to quantify the effects of climate change on pesticide fate and transport (e.g. Ahmadi *et al.*, 2014; Henriksen *et al.*, 2013; Beulke *et al.*, 2007) and only one European-wide study has assessed some potential effects

under Swedish conditions (Kattwinkel *et al.*, 2011). Thus, more quantitative research is needed to explore the direct and indirect effects of climate change on pesticide fate and impacts on water bodies in Sweden. Direct effects refer to natural responses and indirect effects to human-mediated responses to changes in climate that would lead to changes in pesticide fate, transport or use.

Modelling is an effective tool to assess the effects of various influential factors on system behaviour at different scales. However, pesticide fate modelling in the light of climate change is laced with uncertainty related to e.g. climate scenarios, model structure or parameters and not least the modeller. It is essential to account for these uncertainties in order to provide an appropriate scientific basis and realistic, well-founded background information for decision-making.

This PhD-thesis analyses several aspects of the modelling of pesticide leaching in a changing climate. This involves both the generation of climate scenarios as input data, pesticide fate modelling at different scales, and the evaluation of the uncertainties inherent to the process. The sketch in *Figure 1* gives an overview of how the three studies reported in this thesis are interrelated and which aspects and uncertainties were considered in each study.



Figure 1. Overview of how the three studies reported in this thesis relate to each other and which modelling aspects and uncertainties were considered. The combination of climate-soil-croppesticide (marked for paper I, II) can be considered a modelling base unit in all three studies.

2 Aims

- To assess whether pesticide leaching is likely to increase or decrease in Sweden in a future climate. (papers I, II, III)
- To analyse the relative importance of different sources of uncertainty in modelling pesticide leaching under climate change at the field scale: model structure, parameters, and climate input data. (papers I & II)
- To assess and contrast direct and indirect effects of climate change on herbicide leaching to groundwater and to analyse the relative contribution of different factors influencing herbicide leaching under climate change at the regional scale. (paper III)

3 Background

3.1 Climate Change Projections and Impact Studies

3.1.1 Climate Change Projections

The climate system is unequivocally warming resulting in global climate change, for which human activities are *extremely likely*¹ to be responsible (IPCC, 2013a). For Sweden, climate change projections indicate an overall increase in both temperature and precipitation (Kjellström et al., 2014; IPCC, 2012; Kjellström et al., 2011). They furthermore project a strong correlation between increased precipitation and temperature (Kjellström et al., 2011), an increase in climate variability (Olesen et al., 2011) and changes in the frequency of extreme events (IPCC, 2012; Nikulin et al., 2011). The uncertainty in climate model projections is large, especially for summer precipitation and extremes (Kjellström et al., 2014; Kjellström et al., 2011). Warm temperature extremes are likely to increase and cold temperature extremes to decrease. The frequency of dry spells might not increase, but periods of drought might increase due to increased temperatures and higher evapotranspiration in combination with potentially reduced precipitation amounts (Kjellström et al., 2014). Figure 2 shows projected average monthly changes for southern Sweden (55° - 60° N) for 2071-2100 compared to 1961-1990 based on projections from 23 global climate models (GCMs).

^{1.} Extremely likely means with at least 95% certainty according to the IPCC assessment.



Figure 2. Projected monthly changes for southern Sweden based on an ensemble of 23 different Global Climate Models (GCMs) all under the greenhouse gas emission scenario A1B (taken from Lind & Kjellström, 2008). Additionally, the change factors from the ensemble of climate scenarios (CS) used in the studies for the region in *Västra Götaland* (paper II) and for the region in Scania (paper III) are presented. The dashed lines denote "no change".

A climate projection refers to estimates of future climate derived with climate models and the help of scenarios, which can be seen as conditional expectations that reflect what can be expected, if this or that happens (WMO, 2015). Scenarios provide plausible descriptions of how the climate system or its driving forces (e.g. atmospheric greenhouse gases) may develop in the future and indicate what *might* happen in the future rather than forecasting what *will* happen (Walker *et al.*, 2003). If a variety of scenarios is used together, they represent a range of possibilities that reflect uncertainty and increase the robustness of projections (IPCC, 2015).

Climate model projections are commonly produced by General Circulation Models (GCMs; here referred to as Global Climate Models), with a spatial resolution of 100-300 km simulating the climate system for the entire globe. The older generation of GCMs were driven by emission scenarios as defined by the Special Report on Emission Scenarios (SRES; Nakićenović & Swart, 2000). These greenhouse gas (GHG) emission scenarios are based on assumptions about driving forces such as population growth, economic and technological developments. The SRES are grouped into four families that share a common storyline (called A1, A2, B1, and B2). They reflect the influence of more economic (A) or environmental (B) factors, while focusing more on global (1) or regional (2) solutions. The scenario A1B, which has been widely used (ENSEMBLES project; van der Linden & Mitchell, 2009), is a subset of the A1family that assumes a balance across all energy sources. For the Fifth' Assessment report of the IPCC (IPCC, 2013a), climate models were run with four different 'Representative Concentration Pathways' (RCP) that define the total radiative forcing pathway until the year 2100 (Moss *et al.*, 2010). The radiative forcing is a cumulative measure of anthropogenic GHG emissions from all possible sources and the pathways can be described by a wide range of possible socio-economic and technological developments. Although the procedure for generating climate model projections differs between the SRES-driven simulations and the RCP-driven ones, the results for Sweden in terms of average monthly change factors for temperature and precipitation are in similar ranges (Kjellström *et al.*, 2014). In this thesis, only SRES-driven climate simulations were used as input to the climate change impact studies on pesticide leaching.

3.1.2 Climate Change Impact Studies

Studies that analyse the potential effects of climate change are called climate change impact studies. For Sweden, such studies have been performed for many different potential impacts, e.g. on catchment hydrology (Teutschbein & Seibert, 2012; Graham *et al.*, 2007a; Andréasson *et al.*, 2004), surface water quality (Arheimer *et al.*, 2005) or crop production (Eckersten *et al.*, 2012), but none of these studies has focused specifically on pesticide leaching. In all these studies, one or more impact models (such as a hydrological model or a crop model) were used, driven with climate projections relevant to the given location and scale of the study.

As the typical resolution of GCMs is usually too coarse for regional or local studies, the projections need to be downscaled. One way is to perform dynamical downscaling with the help of regional climate models (RCM) that have a typical resolution of 10-50 km, and sometimes down to 2-6 km. The higher resolution allows a better representation of the underlying topography and parameterization of regional and local scale processes. However, RCM outputs are often biased compared to observations (Fowler et al., 2007) and therefore, bias correction methods have been developed to provide the required local scale input to the impact models such as distribution-based scaling (Wetterhall et al., 2011; Yang et al., 2010) or quantile-quantile mapping (Teutschbein & Seibert, 2012). The basic assumption behind all these approaches is that the bias is stationary (Teutschbein & Seibert, 2013; Maraun, 2012), which might not be valid (Christensen et al., 2008). Reviews and comparisons of different methods are presented by for instance Wilby & Wigley (1997), Wilby et al. (2004), Fowler et al. (2007) and Teutschbein & Seibert (2012). Alternatively, statistical downscaling can be applied as described, for example, in Wilby et al. (2004). These methods include weather classification schemes, regression models, and weather generators (Kilsby *et al.*, 2007; Semenov *et al.*, 1998).

The method used in this thesis is a simple and straight-forward alternative that is computationally inexpensive and widely applicable (e.g. by Eckersten et al., 2012; Arheimer et al., 2005). The so-called change factor method (Anandhi et al., 2011), delta method (Graham et al., 2007a) or delta change approach (Hay et al., 2000) applies change factors to an observed time series to represent future climate conditions. Such a future time series is considered a *climate* scenario. The change factors are derived by comparing simulations for a future period with simulations for the reference period for which observations are available. The method can be applied to GCM-projections or RCM-outputs. It is based on the assumption that climate models are able to reproduce climate change signals better than absolute values of the climate variables. In its simplest form, average yearly or monthly change factors are calculated and applied directly to the observations. No change in the frequency of rainfall events is accounted for, but the intensity of rainfall events is changed and thereby the frequency of rainfall events above a certain threshold. More advanced methods have been developed that account for changes in the frequency of rainfall events (e.g. Olsson et al., 2012) or vary the change factors according to rainfall intensity level (e.g. Olsson et al., 2009).

3.1.3 Cascade of uncertainty

Climate change impact assessments are subject to various sources of uncertainty, the so-called *cascade of uncertainty* (Refsgaard *et al.*, 2013; Wilby & Dessai, 2010) consisting of the future society, GHG emissions, GCM, downscaling to regional (RCM) and local scales, impact model, local impacts and the implied adaptation responses. Uncertainty related to climate input data arises from the drivers of change (e.g. GHG), the response of the climate system to those drivers, natural variability and initialization of the GCM, the structure, accuracy, and parameterization of both GCMs and RCMs (Mote et al., 2011: Giorgi, 2005). Which source of uncertainty dominates depends to some extent on the future period that is investigated: the differences between GHG emission scenarios are not so large in the middle of the 21st century, but increase towards the end, while uncertainty related to the natural variability in the climate typically decreases towards the end of the century (e.g. IPCC, 2013a; Kjellström et al., 2011; Hawkins & Sutton, 2009). In addition to the uncertainty in the climate models, the downscaling approach introduces another source of uncertainty (e.g. Chen et al., 2011; Teutschbein & Seibert, 2010) along with the chosen future period (Ledbetter et al., 2012; Prudhomme et al., 2010), while the impact model itself is subject to structural and parameter uncertainty (e.g. Dobler *et al.*, 2012). Many studies have been performed to evaluate the relative importance of the different sources of uncertainty (e.g. Dobler *et al.*, 2012; Chen *et al.*, 2011; Kjellström *et al.*, 2011; Tebaldi *et al.*, 2005). Several studies concluded that the GCMs are a major source of uncertainty (e.g. Kjellström *et al.*, 2011; Déqué *et al.*, 2007; Graham *et al.*, 2007b), but other sources of uncertainty can be similar in magnitude (e.g. Dobler *et al.*, 2012; Chen *et al.*, 2011), depending on location, spatial scale and field of research.

3.1.4 Ensemble modelling

Ensemble modelling is the use of different models or downscaling approaches in parallel to account for, or at least to illustrate, uncertainties (IPCC, 2001) (see also *Figure 2*). Ensembles can also be used to derive probabilistic information on climate change in a region (Kjellström *et al.*, 2011; Déqué & Somot, 2010). Ensemble modelling is common practice in weather forecasting and is widely adopted by the climate modelling community (e.g. IPCC, 2013a; van der Linden & Mitchell, 2009). For climate change impact studies, it is recommended to include an ensemble of climate models, especially GCMs (Maraun, 2012; IPCC, 2001); even a multi-model ensembles of both climate models and impact models (Teutschbein & Seibert, 2010) can be used.

3.2 Pesticide Fate in Soils

Pesticides found in ground- or surface water originate from both point sources (e.g. spills, accidents, sewage treatment plant effluent) and non-point (diffuse) sources arising from normal field application. Point sources may account for 20-80% of pesticide loadings in surface waters (Holvoet *et al.*, 2007), but are of less concern for groundwater. However, if groundwater is polluted, it may last very long. In this thesis, only non-point source pollution from agricultural land was considered.

Non-point source pollution of surface water occurs mainly due to surface runoff, drainflow and spray drift and to a lesser extent due to atmospheric deposition and groundwater seepage (Brown & van Beinum, 2009; Holvoet *et al.*, 2007). The main input pathway to groundwater is leaching through soils, while re-infiltration of surface water is a minor contributor to groundwater pollution (Balderacchi *et al.*, 2013). The major processes and pathways are presented in *Figure 3*.



Figure 3. Sketch of the fate and transport of pesticides in agricultural soils.

Losses of pesticides to surface water are typically <2% of the amount applied in the catchment (Capel *et al.*, 2001; Kreuger, 1998). Losses to tile drains or groundwater are usually between <0.1 and 1% of the applied amount, but may occasionally exceed this (Brown & van Beinum, 2009; Kladivko *et al.*, 2001; Flury, 1996). If heavy rain occurs shortly after pesticide application, losses of up to 5% or 10% of the dose have been observed for leaching to groundwater (Flury, 1996) and tile-drains (Brown & van Beinum, 2009; Kladivko *et al.*, 2001).

3.2.1 Fate and Transport Processes

Pesticides are subject to microbial or chemical degradation and can sorb to clay, organic matter, and iron or aluminium oxides. These processes depend on both temperature and soil moisture and affect the availability of pesticides for transport with the soil water (*Figure 3*). Water flows in the soil matrix, but also as non-equilibrium preferential flow through pathways that only occupy a limited part of the soil (e.g. structural macropores; Jarvis, 2007; Worrall *et al.*, 1997).

Preferential flow can accelerate the transport of pesticides through the unsaturated zone to underlying groundwater or surface waters via subsurface drains (Jarvis, 2007; Kladivko et al., 2001; Flury, 1996; Brown et al., 1995) and explains why pesticides can be found in ground- or surface waters much earlier than expected according to the classical theory of equilibrium water flow and solute transport (Larsbo, 2005). Preferential flow can, however, also prevent leaching of mobile substances: with the first rainfall event after application, they might be washed into the soil matrix and, thus, might not be available for macropore transport afterwards (Larsson & Jarvis, 2000; Shipitalo et al., 1990). The potential for non-equilibrium (macropore) water flow and solute (pesticide) transport at any site depends on the nature of the macropore network, which is determined by factors that affect soil structure formation and degradation, including the abundance and activity of soil biota (e.g. earthworms), soil properties (e.g. clay content), site factors (e.g. slope position, drying intensity, vegetation) and management (e.g. cropping, tillage, traffic) (Jarvis et al., 2013; Jarvis, 2007). Rainfall patterns have been shown to play an important role for rapid transport of pesticides (McGrath et al., 2010) and the relative timing of rainfall events in relation to pesticide application are especially relevant for drainage losses (Lewan et al., 2009; Nolan et al., 2008; Capel et al., 2001), especially on structured soils (Johnson et al., 1996).

Surface runoff is often considered a major pathway for pesticide losses to surface waters, especially for strongly adsorbing compounds, which are transported primarily in particulate-bound form (Holvoet *et al.*, 2007; Kladivko *et al.*, 2001; Wauchope, 1978). Particle-bound pesticides can also leach through soil macropores (Worrall *et al.*, 1999). However, these pathways were not further analysed in this thesis.

Many factors influence the fate of pesticides used in agriculture, many of which are interrelated (Balderacchi *et al.*, 2013) and influenced by climate. Site properties include land-use and soil type. The physicochemical properties of the pesticide not only influence the availability for transport, but are also a major factor determining the dominant transport pathways (Worrall & Kolpin, 2003). Weakly sorbed compounds are commonly transported in the soil matrix, moderately sorbed pesticides are more prone to macropore flow (McGrath *et al.*, 2010), while strongly sorbed pesticides might only be transported in particulate-bound form, either through macropores (Worrall *et al.*, 1999) or via surface runoff and erosion (Wauchope, 1978). Key agronomic practices that affect pesticide fate and transport include application timing and dose (e.g. paper III), tillage practices (Alletto *et al.*, 2010), crop rotations (Balderacchi *et al.*, 2008) and organic matter management (Larsbo *et al.*, 2009b).

3.2.2 Modelling Pesticide Fate and Transport

Models enable us to integrate knowledge on a specific system and to generalize concepts and results. They can be used to explore complex interactions, new environments or future conditions. Many models are available to simulate the fate and transport of pesticides in soils (Köhne *et al.*, 2009; Siimes & Kämäri, 2003; Jarvis, 2001). For the registration of pesticides at European and Swedish national level, one-dimensional models are used to evaluate the risks of groundwater or surface water contamination with pesticides. Only a limited number of models are used for these purposes, of which MACRO (Jarvis & Larsbo, 2012; Larsbo & Jarvis, 2005), described in chapter 4.2.2, is currently the only one that explicitly accounts for macropore flow². Simulations that do not account for preferential flow will significantly underestimate leaching in structured soils (Moeys *et al.*, 2012; Herbst *et al.*, 2005).

As mentioned above, the major processes affecting pesticide availability for transport through soils are temperature dependent. According to Paraíba *et al.*, (2003), failure to account for temperature effects on pesticide degradation and sorption processes significantly affects the outputs of pesticide leaching models with regard to risks of groundwater or surface water pollution. Models commonly only account for temperature dependent degradation, whereas the temperature dependence of sorption and diffusion is usually neglected (Tiktak, 2000). In assessing climate change impacts on pesticide fate and transport, it is especially important to evaluate the effect of temperature dependent processes on the outputs. The available mathematical descriptions of temperature dependent sorption are (to my knowledge) only valid for linear sorption. Nevertheless, temperature dependent sorption and diffusion were included in the current version of MACRO for the purpose of this thesis as described in chapter 4.2.2.

3.2.3 Regional Scale Modelling

Regional scale modelling tools for pesticide fate and transport have been developed by coupling one-dimensional leaching models with geographic information systems (GIS), which may include several data layers describing, for example, crop and soil distributions (McGrath *et al.*, 2010; Holvoet *et al.*, 2007; Sood & Bhagat, 2005; Corwin & Wagenet, 1996). Pesticide leaching models range from simple models such as indicator or Attenuation Factor based (Rao *et al.*, 1985) models to physically-based dual-permeability models such as MACRO. As it is difficult to parameterize complex models due to lack

^{2.} This statement only refers to the FOCUS-versions of the pesticide fate models used for registration procedures. The research version of, for instance, the PEARL-model also includes preferential flow routines.

of data and the natural variability of soil properties in the landscape, simple models have often been preferred for large-scale assessments (McGrath *et al.*, 2010; Loague *et al.*, 1990). Nevertheless, complex preferential flow models have previously been implemented in GIS approaches for groundwater vulnerability assessments (e.g. Sinkevich *et al.*, 2005) and used in a GIS-context for studying the effects of crop rotations on leaching risks (Balderacchi *et al.*, 2008). The model tool MACRO-SE was used in the regional scale study described in paper III, which is based on a coupling of the one-dimensional pesticide fate model MACRO with GIS data and automated parameterization routines.

Several watershed-scale hydrological models have been developed that account for water quality and non-point source pollution (see e.g. Moriasi *et al.*, 2012; Quilbé *et al.*, 2006; Borah & Bera, 2003). Very few models, however, account for macropore processes in a spatially distributed way for an entire catchment. One example is MIKE SHE/DAISY, a coupling between the 3D watershed model MIKE SHE (Abbott *et al.*, 1986a; 1986b) and the 1D agroecosystem model DAISY (Abrahamsen & Hansen, 2000). Christensen *et al.* (2004) used MIKE SHE/DAISY and concluded that point-scale macropore processes were dominating processes for pesticide leaching at catchment scale, but not important for groundwater recharge and discharge. Furthermore, they noted that it might be sufficient to perform several single column simulations rather than running a comprehensive 3D model, if spatial and temporal variations in the groundwater depth in a catchment are adequately represented by the range of columns simulated.

At regional scales, the availability of suitable geographic input of soil, crop and climate data as well as the reliability of pedotransfer functions (PTFs) are important aspects. Additionally, information on pesticide use at an appropriate spatial resolution is essential (see Miraglia et al., 2009; Boxall et al., 2008). The (automated) parameterisation of the entire modelled region poses challenges and constitutes a large source of uncertainty. Furthermore, there are serious difficulties in validating such modelling approaches arising, for instance, from differences in the spatial and temporal scales of simulation outputs and measurements. This is discussed in paper III. Nevertheless, some watershed models have been tested (Holvoet et al., 2007), at least for discharge predictions and water table level (e.g. Christiansen et al., 2004) or against pesticide concentrations obtained by grab samples (Beernaerts et al., 2005). Uncertainty analyses for regional scale assessments have been performed for GIS-based tools coupled with simple models (Loague et al., 2012; Stenemo et al., 2007; Loague, 1991) and for fully distributed models (e.g. Van den Berg et al., 2012; Heuvelink et al., 2010).

3.2.4 Uncertainty Analysis

Uncertainty in model predictions arises from many sources: driving data (e.g. weather or climate data), parameter values due to measurement errors or uncertainty in background supporting data used to estimate model parameters by pedotransfer functions (PTFs; Bouma, 1989), model structure (e.g. unknown processes, processes erroneously described or incompletely implemented), boundary conditions, unknown or incorrect initial conditions and modeller subjectivity (e.g. interpretation of input data or results; Boesten, 2000). In this thesis, uncertainty in the climate input data is merged with uncertainty in the generation of climate scenarios as described above. The uncertainty inherent in the predictions of the impact model is also part of the *cascade of uncertainty* described earlier. A detailed overview of the different sources of uncertainty in pesticide fate modelling is given in Dubus *et al.* (2003b) and those aspects which are relevant for this thesis are summarized in papers I and II.

An uncertainty analysis is essential for a reliable quantification of pesticide losses. Refsgaard *et al.* (2007) gives an overview of various methods for uncertainty assessments. Sensitivity analyses often serve as basis for estimating parameters and for uncertainty analysis. For many pesticide leaching models, parameters related to degradation and sorption are the most sensitive (Heuvelink *et al.*, 2010; Cheviron & Coquet, 2009; Dubus *et al.*, 2003a). In addition, parameters governing the generation of macropore flow and mass exchange between macropores and the soil matrix are of particular importance for preferential flow models like MACRO (Dubus & Brown, 2002).

Monte-Carlo methods are uncertainty assessment methods with stochastic application of deterministic models (Soutter & Musy, 1998). These methods calculate the distribution of the model output for a large number of realisations (deterministic simulations) with selected parameters (or input data) randomly sampled from prior distributions (Refsgaard *et al.*, 2007). Monte-Carlo-Markov-Chain methods update the prior distributions step-wise and search through the parameter space in a systematic and computationally efficient way, while making use of an explicit description of the error-model. Vrugt et al. (2009) summarized these approaches as formal Bayesian approaches.

The Generalized Likelihood Uncertainty Estimation (GLUE) method (Beven & Binley, 1992), on the other hand, is considered as an informal Bayesian approach, because the distinction between 'behavioural' and 'non-behavioural' parameter sets is subjective and different types of performance criteria (informal likelihood measures) can be used (Vrugt *et al.*, 2009; Smith *et al.*, 2008). GLUE is built on the philosophy that a strong assumption concerning the structure of the error model cannot be justified given the epistemic uncertainty of model structures in environmental models (Beven, 2006; Beven & Binley,

1992). Epistemic uncertainty refers to the uncertainty due to imperfect knowledge, which can potentially be reduced by more research and empirical data collections (Curry & Webster, 2011; Walker *et al.*, 2003). It is in contrast to uncertainty due to inherent variability or randomness (also called ontic or aleatory uncertainty; Curry & Webster, 2011). Despite intense discussion in the scientific literature on the advantages and disadvantages of the different philosophies (see e.g. Honti *et al.*, 2014; Vrugt *et al.*, 2009; Beven *et al.*, 2008; Mantovan & Todini, 2006), both methods seem to give similar results (Vrugt *et al.*, 2009; Beven *et al.*, 2008). The parameter identification method applied in paper I and II was based on GLUE, as it is conceptually simple, easy to implement and simulations can be easily run in parallel to reduce total simulation times (Vrugt *et al.*, 2009).

3.3 Direct and Indirect Effects of Climate Change on Pesticide Leaching

Climate change may affect the leaching of pesticides to ground- and surface waters both directly and indirectly. In the context of this thesis, direct effects summarize the natural responses of the soil-ecosystem to changes in climatic variables (mainly temperature, precipitation and potential evapotranspiration). Indirect effects refer to any changes in the use, fate and transport of pesticides that are triggered by human activities in response to climate change. Some changes can, thus, be considered either direct or indirect depending on the cause of the change (e.g. changes in soil organic carbon content).

3.3.1 Direct Effects

The direct effects of climate change on the leaching of pesticides are diverse and often contrasting. *Table 1* summarizes the processes and transport pathways relevant for this thesis and the climatic drivers projected to be relevant for Sweden in a future climate (Kjellström *et al.*, 2014). Some effects are rather strong (e.g. faster degradation of pesticides), while others are rather weak (e.g. hydraulic conductivity for leaching to groundwater). For more details on how climate change might affect the source terms, transport pathways and receptors for pesticides, the reader is referred to the review by Bloomfield *et al.* (2006).

Climatic Processes and effects in the system driving force		Effect on pesticide leaching
Increased	Faster degradation	-
temperature	Higher turn-over of organic matter (less sorption sites)	+
	Greater litter input due to improved growth and increased soil organic matter content	-
	Weaker sorption (for most compounds)	+
	Faster diffusion leads to faster mass exchange between micro- and macropores and to less transport via macropores	-
	More volatilization	-
	Increased hydraulic conductivity	+
	Increased potential (and actual) evapotranspiration leading to reduced drainflow and percolation	-
Increased winter temperatures	Changes in freezing-thawing cycles that can lead to changes in soil structure (e.g. crack formation, aggregation)	+/-
Increased	Increased volumes of drainflow/percolation	+
precipitation	Faster degradation due to increased soil moisture	-
amount	Reduced degradation, if soil moisture gets close to saturation	+
	Higher turn-over of organic matter (less sorption sites)	+
Higher precipitation intensities	Preferential transport triggered more often	+
Longer drought	Reduced degradation	+
periods	Faster gas diffusion	-
	Higher rate of volatilization	-
	Cracking of clay soils affects macropore flow	+

Table 1. Direct effects of climate change on processes affecting pesticide fate and transport in soils and potential implications for leaching of pesticides under Swedish conditions. "+" indicates an increase in leaching, while "-" indicates a reduction in leaching.

3.3.2 Indirect effects

The indirect effects of climate change on pesticide leaching are many and diverse and only a few can be discussed here. Conditions for crop growth in Sweden are likely to improve in a future climate mainly due to an extended growing period and milder winters (Eckersten *et al.*, 2008a). This is likely to change the cropping patterns and allow the cultivation of *new* crops (more maize, sunflower, grapes) and more autumn-sown crops (Harrison & Butterfield, 1996), which would require the use of pesticides adapted to these crops and conditions. It might also affect the timing of pesticide applications,

as sowing and harvest dates would be adapted to the growing conditions (Olesen *et al.*, 2012; Trnka *et al.*, 2011; Eckersten *et al.*, 2008b). However, the extent to which the soils are trafficable earlier in spring depends not only on temperature, but also on soil moisture conditions and the preceding rainfall amounts (Earl, 1997).

Warmer winters would favour the survival of pests and accelerate the development of weeds (Patterson *et al.*, 1999), which would lead to an increased need for plant protection, which could result in an increased use of pesticides (larger area sprayed or more frequent sprayings). Furthermore, the reduced efficiency of pesticides could require increased use (Bailey, 2004), as well as enhanced development of resistances against pesticides. The relationship between climate change and pesticide usage has been analysed for U.S. conditions with the conclusion that pesticide usage and the costs related to it are likely to increase in a future climate, partly due to increased inter-annual climate variability (Koleva *et al.*, 2010; Koleva & Schneider, 2009; Chen & McCarl, 2001).

Other indirect effects of climate change include socio-economic factors and political decisions (e.g. reduced pesticide use; Hossard *et al.*, 2014), which are typically difficult to assess as they are uncertain and might change rapidly, while having a strong impact on the agricultural system (Delcour *et al.*, 2015; Bloomfield *et al.*, 2006).

3.3.3 Previous Quantitative Assessments

Although the likely effects of climate change on pesticide losses to water recipients are qualitatively rather well understood, few studies have attempted to quantify these impacts. Beulke *et al.* (2007) analysed the impacts of climate change on the leaching of three representative pesticides to surface water via tile-drains. Their study suggested that losses of autumn-applied pesticides are likely to increase in the future resulting from increased volumes of drainflow and runoff and increased rain intensities in critical events. They accounted for some of the indirect effects of climate change (changes in crop development, application time, dose and frequency) and suggested that these and others could have larger impacts on leaching than the direct effects.

In a similar study, Henriksen *et al.* (2013) simulated the impact of climate change on the leaching of several different pesticides to groundwater and surface water for two different field sites and catchments in Denmark. They evaluated two different agricultural production systems and accounted for typical crop rotations and pesticide usage for present and future conditions based on estimates from locations further south in Europe (known as the analogue method or space-for-time substitution). Their results clearly indicate

the complex interplay of different factors that makes it difficult to draw general conclusions. Nevertheless, it seemed that both the direct and the indirect effects of climate change were stronger for loamy soils than for sandy soils, for which the effects were minimal or negligible. Depending on pesticide properties, projected increases in leaching were negligible for strongly sorbed herbicides, minor for *ordinary* herbicides such as MCPA or clopyralid and more pronounced for the newer low-dose herbicides such as florasulam. The catchment scale assessment they performed with MACRO coupled to MIKE-SHE showed that simulated pesticide concentrations were influenced by dilution in surface and groundwater and varied with soil and pesticide properties.

Kattwinkel *et al.* (2011) analysed the exposure of aquatic organisms to insecticides in a future climate at a European scale. They also accounted for changes in land-use and pesticide usage based on space-for-time substitution. They identified the insecticide application rate as the main driver for a change in the ecological risk and concluded that the combined impact of climate change was larger than direct or indirect effects considered separately.

Two recent studies focused on direct effects of climate change and evaluated the uncertainty in such estimations. Ahmadi *et al.* (2014) performed a modelling study with the SWAT-model for a watershed in the US and evaluated the impacts of climate change on fate and transport of the herbicide atrazine. Variability and uncertainty increased in a future climate and changes in total atrazine loadings differed depending on the emission scenario (increases for the A2 scenario, no changes for A1B and B1). In a Monte-Carlo uncertainty analysis, Kong *et al.* (2013) assessed the effects of input uncertainty and variability on the modelled fate of the persistent organic PCBs (polychlorinated biphenyl) in the light of climate change. They concluded that the relative changes in concentrations in the soil and water bodies were dominated by climate uncertainty, while variation in degradation rates dominated the projections of the absolute values of those model outcomes.

4 Materials and Methods

4.1 The Study Set-ups

A unique combination of "climate-crop-pesticide-soil" forms the base simulation unit in all three studies (see also *Figure 1*). Pesticide fate simulations for this base-unit were run with MACRO for present climate conditions (1970-1999) and for a future climate representing the period 2070-2099. Each 30-year period was simulated with a preceding warm-up period of 6 years, the results of which were excluded from the analyses. The field scale



studies accounted for the direct effects of climate change and analysed the role of model structural differences (paper I) and climate input uncertainty (paper II) in relation to parameter uncertainty. In both papers, accumulated losses of pesticides to surface waters via tile-drains were simulated at the field site in Lanna (Figure 4). Both direct effects and indirect effects of climate change on the leaching of herbicides to groundwater were assessed at the regional scale for a major crop production region in Scania (Figure 4) focusing on concentration in leachate (paper III).

Figure 4. Map of Sweden, where the sites and crop production regions that are relevant for this thesis are marked.

4.2 Field Scale

The studies reported in paper I and II were set-up in a similar way and are therefore presented together here. In a first step, MACRO was calibrated against comprehensive field data from the field site at Lanna (*Figure 4*). This resulted in an ensemble of acceptable parameter sets, which was used in a second step, to run "prediction scenarios" of hypothetical compounds with different degrees of sorption strength leaching to field drains under present and future climate conditions.

4.2.1 Site

The field site at Lanna is located in the county of Västra Götaland in the south west of Sweden (see *Figure 4*). The soil is a silty clay (see Table 1 in paper I. II) that had been under no-tillage practice since 1988. In terms of pesticide leaching via preferential flow to drains, this soil represents a worst-case scenario, since it has a strongly developed and stable aggregate structure and abundant earthworm biopores. The field plot is 0.4 ha in size and tile-drained at 1 m depth and 13 m spacing. The field experiment was performed between October 1994 and December 1995 (Larsson & Jarvis, 1999). The weakly sorbed herbicide bentazone (2.5 kg ha⁻¹) was applied simultaneously with potassium bromide (44.4 kg Br ha⁻¹; non-reactive tracer) on bare soil on October, 18th 1994. During the summer of 1995, spring-sown rape (Brassica napus L.) was grown. Drainflow and flux concentrations of bentazone and bromide were recorded continuously, while measurements of water content, resident bentazone and bromide concentrations in the soil were obtained from 1 m deep soil cores taken on 3-5 occasions during the experimental period. 8.5% of the applied amount of bentazone was lost to tile drains, 10.5% remained in the soil on the last measurement occasion, while the rest was either degraded or leached below the depth of measurements. Of the applied bromide, 31% was recovered in the drainflow, 22% was left in the soil at the end of the experiment and the remaining 47% was lost in deep percolation or in lateral shallow groundwater flow (Larsson & Jarvis, 1999).

4.2.2 Impact Model: MACRO

MACRO is a one-dimensional physically-based model that simulates water flow and solute transport in structured soils and explicitly accounts for nonequilibrium macropore flow with a dual-permeability approach. For a detailed description of the current version MACRO 5.2, see Jarvis & Larsbo (2012) and Larsbo *et al.* (2005). MACRO has been mainly used to simulate the impact of macropore flow on pesticide leaching (Jarvis & Larsbo, 2012), but it has also been used to simulate leaching of other solutes, such as pharmaceuticals (e.g. Larsbo *et al.*, 2009a) and heavy metals (e.g. Moradi *et al.*, 2005). MACRO is driven with weather or climate data and crop growth is described with a simple approach. A complete water balance is simulated with root water uptake calculated using the model described by Jarvis (1989), flow and transport to drainage systems calculated by the Hooghoudt equation and seepage potential theory, and potential evapotranspiration is estimated with the Penman-Monteith equation (Larsbo & Jarvis, 2003).

Water flow in the soil matrix is calculated with Richard's equation and solute transport follows the convection-dispersion equation. Preferential flow in macropores is assumed to be gravity-dominated and modelled with the kinematic wave equation. The saturated hydraulic conductivity of the soil matrix (K_b [mm h⁻¹]) governs the partitioning of water flow between matrix and macropore systems. The exchange of water and solutes between the two pore systems via diffusion and convection is controlled by the diffusion pathlength (d [mm]), a proxy parameter for the unknown geometry of soil macropore structure (Gerke & Van Genuchten, 1996).

Pesticide degradation is described by first-order kinetics, with the rate coefficient (μ ; where $\mu = \ln(2)$ divided by the half-life DT₅₀ [days]) given as a function of soil temperature, according to the Arrhenius equation (Boesten & Van der Linden, 1991) and moisture content, following a modified Walker function (Walker, 1974). Sorption can be described with a linear isotherm or a non-linear Freundlich isotherm. In papers I and II, a linear sorption isotherm was used, with the sorption coefficient K_d [ml g⁻¹] governing the partitioning of pesticides between solution and sorbed phase. As input to models like MACRO, the K_{oc} [ml g⁻¹] is typically used, which is the K_d value normalized for the organic carbon fraction of the soil (f_{oc} [-]) according to Wauchope et al. (2002).

$$K_{oc} = \frac{K_d}{f_{oc}} \tag{1}$$

To study the effects of temperature on pesticide leaching in a future climate, optional functions were introduced into MACRO 5.2 to describe temperature dependent sorption and diffusion. The effect of temperature on sorption was simulated according to the van't Hoff equation for linear equilibrium sorption with a constant sorption enthalpy ($\Delta H_s = -30 \text{ kJ mol}^{-1}$):

$$K_d = K_{dref} \exp\left[\frac{-\Delta H_s}{R} \left(\frac{1}{T} - \frac{1}{T_{ref}}\right)\right]$$
^[2]

where $K_{d,ref}$ is the sorption coefficient at reference temperature $T_{ref}(20^{\circ}C)$, T is the temperature [K] and R denotes the molar gas constant (=8.314 J K⁻¹ mol⁻¹).



Figure 5. The effect of temperature on sorption (sorption coefficient K_d) for a compound with a negative sorption enthalpy of -30 kJ mol⁻¹ and diffusion (molecular diffusion coefficient in water D_T) as implemented in the model.

Temperature dependent diffusion was calculated as a function of viscosity at reference and actual (soil) temperatures and implemented as follows based on Korson *et al.* (1969) and Hayduk & Laudie (1974):

$$D_T = D_{ref} \left(\frac{\eta_{ref}}{\eta_{20}}\right)^{1.14} \left(10^{\left((B(T-20)^2 - A(20-T))/(T+C)\right) * 1.14}\right)$$
[3]

where D_T and D_{ref} are the diffusion coefficients of the specific chemical in water at any temperature and at the reference temperature of 25°C (= 5*10⁻¹⁰ m² s⁻¹; FOCUS, 2000), η_{ref} (=0.8904 g m⁻¹ s⁻¹) and η_{20} (=1.002 g m⁻¹ s⁻¹) are the viscosities at 25°C and 20°C, respectively, A=1.1709, B=0.001827, and C=89.93°C. Paper I presents further details.

The effect of temperature on sorption and diffusion is illustrated in *Figure 5* following equations 2 and 3, respectively. Implementation of these functions allowed the choice of four structurally different model versions (MVs; see *Figure 6*).

4.2.3 Calibration

Figure 6 summarizes the approach used to calibrate the model and to identify an ensemble of acceptable parameter sets for MACRO that describes the observations sufficiently well. The approach is based on the GLUEmethodology described by Beven and Binley (1992). The basic principle is to run simulations with different sets of parameter combinations and evaluate their performance with respect to the measurements, in this case the field experiment described above. In order to test different model structures, we calibrated each of the four model versions (MVs) separately against the measurements (paper I). For paper II, we applied the same approach but only for MV4 with some modifications as mentioned below.



Figure 6. Sketch of the procedure to identify an 'Ensemble of acceptable Parameter Combinations' (EPC) for the four structurally different model versions (MVs) of the MACRO-model (paper I). TD stands for temperature dependent. For paper II, a slightly modified procedure was performed with only MV4, a reduced number of combinations (40000) and a criteria of acceptance that required an EF>0 for all 6 different types of observations.

Four sensitive parameters in MACRO were included in the procedure based on previous sensitivity and uncertainty assessments (Larsbo & Jarvis, 2005; Dubus *et al.*, 2003a): the degradation rate coefficient (μ), the sorption coefficient (K_{oc}), the diffusion pathlength (d), and the saturated matrix hydraulic conductivity (K_b). Values for topsoil and subsoil were sampled independently, which resulted in 8 uncertain parameters. 80000 and 40000 different parameter combinations were tested for papers I and II, respectively. Application date, application dose, soil properties and crop information were set according to measurements at the field site or previous calibrations of the model against the data (Larsbo & Jarvis, 2005; Larsson & Jarvis, 1999). The simulations were driven by on-site recorded meteorological time series of hourly precipitation, and daily data of temperature, solar radiation, wind speed and relative humidity.

The performance of the different parameter sets was evaluated based on the model efficiency (EF) (or Nash-Sutcliff criteria; Nash & Sutcliffe, 1970), with

$$EF_{i} = \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{n} (o_{ij} - \bar{o}_{i})^{2} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} (o_{ij} - P_{ij})^{2}}{\sum_{j=1}^{n} (o_{ij} - \bar{o}_{i})^{2}}$$
[4]

where *i* denotes the different types of observations, *n* is the number of observations in each group, O_{ij} and P_{ij} are the observed and simulated values and \overline{O}_i is the average of the observations for each group.

The criterion relates the variation in the observations to the variation in the simulations. It gives a value between $-\infty$ and 1, where a value greater than zero means that the simulations are better predictors than the average of the measurements. All available measurements were included, i.e. measurements of dynamic fluxes and state variables, each of which produced one EF-value. Those simulations that gave EF-values larger than zero for all observation types were defined as *acceptable*. In paper I, bromide flux concentration data was excluded from this criterion because no parameter combination gave good simulations of both bromide flux concentration and bentazone resident concentration. For paper II, the prior ranges for K_b in top- and subsoil were narrowed in relation to the total number of samples taken, which gave a sufficient number of parameter combinations in the relevant range and much better simulations of bromide concentration in drainage.

4.2.4 Prediction Scenarios

The calibrated ensemble of parameter sets was used to test different *prediction scenarios* under present and future climate conditions. We simulated six different pesticide application scenarios (PAS's) defined as a unique combination of a certain pesticide compound (with its specific properties) applied on a crop with a particular dose at a certain time of the year. We tested three hypothetical compounds differing in their sorption strength³, which were derived by multiplying the calibrated K_{oc} values with the factors given in *Table 2*. Pesticides were applied in spring (May, 1st to May, 16th) or in autumn (September, 29th to October, 15th) at a fixed annual application rate (0.45 kg ha⁻¹) on winter cereals.

Scenario	Sorption properties	Application Season	Koc-factor	
WsSpr	waalday aadaad	spring	1	
WsAut	weakly sorbed	autumn		
MsSpr	me denoted in control	spring	10	
MsAut	moderately sorbed	autumn	10	
SsSpr	atura also contra d	spring	50	
SsAut	strongly sorbed	autumn	50	

Table 2. Overview of the pesticide application scenarios simulated in papers I and II for present and future climate conditions. The calibrated K_{oc} -values were multiplied by the given K_{oc} -factors.

³ see also *Figure 9* in 4.3.3.

For present conditions, climate data from the weather station in Såtenäs (58°26'N, 12°41'E, see *Figure 4*) was used, which is considered representative for the crop production region *Västra Götaland*. For future climate conditions, time series were generated with the simple delta-change method (see 3.1.2 and paper II). Thus, monthly average change factors were calculated for temperature, precipitation and solar radiation from the climate model projections (*Table 3*) and applied to systematically change the present climate time series. Additive change factors were used for temperature and solar radiation and multiplicative ones for precipitation (*Figure 2*). Wind speed and relative humidity were kept unchanged. In the case of wind speed, this was because projected changes are rather small and do not show systematic patterns (Kjellström *et al.*, 2014; Kjellström *et al.*, 2011), while models and experiments suggest that relative humidity will be unaffected in a future climate (Bengtsson, 2010). In paper I, only one climate scenario was included (CS9), while paper II included all nine climate scenarios (*Table 3*).

Table 3. Overview of the climate model projections forming the basis of the climate scenarios used in this thesis. SRES stands for the emission scenarios as described in Nakićenović & Swart (2000) and GCM for global climate model. All GCMs were dynamically downscaled by the regional climate model (RCM) developed by the Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute, called RCA3 (Samuelsson et al., 2011). For the ECHAM5-model, three simulations differing only in the initial states (denoted with r1, r2, r3) were used. References to the individual GCMs are given in paper II.

GCM	Short information about the GCM	SRES	Climate]	Paper		
		(initial state)	Scenario	Ι	Π	III	
BCM	<i>Bergen Climate Model</i> is a coupled atmosphere–ocean–sea ice model consisting of the atmospheric model ARPEGE/IFS and a global version of the ocean model MICOM (Furevik <i>et al.</i> , 2003).	A1B	CS1		X	х	
CCSM3	<i>Community Climate System Model</i> is a coupled climate model for simulating the earth's climate system. It was created by the National Centre for Atmospheric Research (CO, USA), as a freely available model for the wider climate research community (CESM, 2015).	A1B	CS2		х	x	
HadCM3Q0	Hadley Centre Coupled Model, version 3 is a coupled climate model developed at the Met Office Hadley Centre, UK (MetOffice, 2015). The model is run on a 360-day year, i.e. 12 months with 30 days each.	A1B	CS3		x	х	
IPSL	The IPSL Earth System Model was developed by the Institute Pierre Simon Laplace in France in a modular way with model components of the Earth system that can be used as standalone models or coupled to each other (IPSL, 2015).	A1B	CS4		X	x	
ECHAM5	The 5th generation of the ECHAM general circulation model, which was developed by the Max Planck Institute for Meteorology, Hamburg, Germany. It originates from developments based on the global numerical weather prediction model of the European Centre for Medium-Range Weather Forecasts (MPI-MET, 2015).	A1B (r1)	CS5		х	х	
		A1B (r2)	CS6		х		
		A1B (r3)	CS7		х		
		B1 (r1)	CS8		х		
		A2 (r1)	CS9	х	x		
4.3 Regional Scale

Field-scale studies can provide insights into processes that will affect pesticide leaching under climate change, but a proper appreciation of the likely overall impacts requires analyses at larger spatial scales such as catchments or regions. *Figure 7* gives an overview of the methodology adopted for the regional scale study reported in paper III, which analysed both direct and indirect effects of climate change on herbicide leaching to groundwater.



Figure 7. Sketch of the regional scale project. For each combination of climate, soil type, and pesticide application scenario (PAS), MACRO-SE parameterizes and runs simulations that produce field-scale concentrations. In a subsequent step, risk maps for each PAS are produced that account for soil distribution, fractional crop coverage and area sprayed with the herbicide. All the individual risk maps are then combined to obtain aggregated herbicide concentrations. This is done for both present and for each of the five climate scenarios separately.

4.3.1 Study Region

The study focused on the southern part of the GSS crop production region in the county of Scania (GSS are the southern plains of *Götaland*; see *Figure 4*). This region is a major Swedish crop production region with agricultural land comprising 61% of the area, which is very high compared to the Swedish average of 7.6%. Scania contributes 50% of the total agricultural production in Sweden (SJV, 2014) on roughly 20% of the agricultural land with 60% of the national pesticide use (SCB, 2011). The dominant soils in Scania are developed in quaternary moraine (till) deposits. The climate in the simulated region is humid temperate with an annual precipitation of 706 mm and an annual average temperature of 7.8 °C (paper III, Table 1).

4.3.2 Impact Model: MACRO-SE

MACRO-SE is a regionalized version of MACRO 5.2 (see chapter 4.2.2), currently under development by the Centre for Chemical Pesticides (CKB) at the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences (SLU). It combines soil maps, detailed information on land-use, crop area and climate data with a set of empirical pedotransfer functions (PTFs) and other parameter estimation routines (Moeys *et al.*, 2012; Jarvis *et al.*, 2007), which provide a complete parameterization of MACRO 5.2 for an entire region in Sweden (cf. *Figure 7*). A previous test of the PTFs showed that water recharge, the general temporal pattern of solute leaching and the ranking of soils according to preferential solute transport indicators was reasonably well predicted (Moeys *et al.*, 2012).

The soil classification in MACRO-SE is based on the FOOTPRINT soil type (FST) classification (Centofanti et al., 2008), but has been adapted to fit the available data for Swedish arable soils. The FST designation comprises four components: the soil hydrological class, the texture class in topsoil and subsoil, and the topsoil organic matter content class. The texture code is given by a number between 1 and 5 for coarse, medium, medium-fine, fine and very fine mineral soils, respectively (see also Figure 8), while bedrock in the subsoil is denoted with a 0 and peaty soils are denoted with a 6. The code for organic matter content (u, n, h, and t) represents topsoils with low (<3%), average (3-5%), and high (>5%) organic matter contents, and peaty soils, respectively. Four hydrological classes are distinguished that define the dominant flow pathways and the bottom boundary condition for MACRO (Table 4). Classes W and Y have recharge to groundwater via percolation as well as discharge to surface water, class U only discharges to surface water, while class L only recharges to groundwater. As an example: Y24n denotes a soil with hydrological class Y (discharge and recharge), a medium textured topsoil (2), fine textured subsoil (4) and medium organic carbon content (n).

Hydrological class	Landscape feature or position	Flow pathways	Bottom boundary condition in MACRO
L	soils with free drainage to deep- lying groundwater	Only percolation towards groundwater	unit hydraulic gradient
W	soils with moderately permeable substrate; groundwater-table can reach into the soil profile, but not far	recharge to groundwater dominates, but discharge to surface waters via lateral flow occurs	percolation rate is defined as a linear function of the water table height
Y	soils with slowly permeable substrate; groundwater-table can reach far into the soil profile	discharge to surface waters via subsurface drains dominates, but recharge to groundwater occurs	percolation rate is defined as a linear function of the water table height
U	soils with impermeable substrate (i.e. very low hydraulic conductivity in the subsoil) or soils occupying low-lying discharge areas.	only discharge to surface water via subsurface drains	zero-flow

Table 4. Description of soil-geological conditions, modelled flow pathways and the definition of the bottom boundary condition in MACRO for the four hydrological classes in MACRO-SE.

The default parameterization of MACRO-SE was used for all soils in the region. This means that the default version of MACRO 5.2 (MV1) was used, which does not account for the effects of temperature on sorption or diffusion. Sorption followed a Freundlich isotherm defined by the organic carbon sorption coefficient K_{foc} and the Freundlich exponent n_f and pesticide degradation was simulated with first-order kinetics as in paper I and II. More details on the data input to MACRO-SE are presented in the supplementary material to paper III.

4.3.3 Input Data

Climate

For present conditions, measured data from a representative weather station in Barkåkra (56°29'N, 12°85'E) was used for the entire region. For future conditions, five different climate model projections were used to generate the climate scenarios with the same delta-change approach used in the field-scale studies (see 4.2.4; CS1-CS5 as described in *Table 3*). The change factors varied between climate scenarios (*Figure 2*) with an annual increase in temperatures of 2 to 3.5 °C and increases in annual precipitation of 12 to 25% (paper III, Fig. 2 and Table 1).

Soil

The GSS region in Scania is dominated by medium-textured soils with a clay content of 10-20% in the topsoil and locally high clay contents of up to 40%. The organic matter (OM) contents are low to medium in the region (58% with <3% OM, 39% with 3-5% OM and 3% with >5% OM). 34% of the arable soils within the GSS-region were classified as *U*-soils with no recharge to groundwater and were, thus, not relevant for the study. The 24 most common *L*, *W* and *Y*-soils (filled circles in *Figure 8*) were simulated, which together accounted for 97% of the arable area with recharge to groundwater (unfilled circles in *Figure 8*). As an illustrative comparison, the topsoil (0-30cm) texture class of the field site in Lanna is also marked in *Figure 8*.



Figure 8. Topsoil texture triangle of the Soil Map of Europe, also called HYPRES texture triangle. The unfilled circles denote all soil types in the GSS region of Scania with recharge to groundwater, the filled dots are the 24 most common soils, which were included in paper III. The black star is the topsoil texture of the soil in Lanna (paper I and II). The letters mark the texture classes: C=coarse (FST-code 1), M=medium (FST-code 2), MF=medium-fine (FST- code 3), F=fine (FST-code 4) and VF=very fine (FST-code 5).

Crop

The eight most important crop types in southern Sweden (winter cereals, spring cereals, winter rape, sugar beets, peas, potatoes, maize, and spring rape) were simulated. Grassland was also included in the study, but no simulations were run as the grassland area was considered as un-treated, while the water balance for grass was approximated by that of winter cereals. The fractional coverage of each crop was derived from a field scale database held by the Swedish Board of Agriculture, with the data aggregated to the catchment scale (see paper III, Fig. S3 and Table S1).

Pesticide application scenarios

All herbicides that are currently allowed for use in Sweden on these eight crops were included, except for glyphosate and three additional compounds, for which the information was not sufficient to parameterize the simulations (bifenox, clomazone and picloram). The 37 herbicides (Figure 9) combined with the crops they are registered for use on, gave a total of 67 pesticide application scenarios (PAS's). For each PAS, application date and dose as well as the fraction of the specific crop sprayed with the particular herbicide was obtained from long-term monitoring data gathered in two catchments that are part of the Swedish national environmental monitoring program for pesticides (see Figure 4). In the monitoring programs, pesticide residues in surface water, groundwater, stream sediment, and rain water are collected regularly throughout the year. Additionally, the farmers are interviewed each year to gather information about field size, crops grown, and pesticide usage (i.e. substance, application day and rate). The pesticide properties (K_{foc} , DT_{50} , n_f) were taken from the Pesticide Properties DataBase of the University of Hertfordshire (PPDB, 2013). For the complete list of all PAS's, including crop growth parameters, application dose and day of application, see Table S2 in paper III.

The study was performed as a two-step procedure (cf. *Figure 7*). From each simulation for soil type *i*, crop *j* and herbicide *k*, predictions of accumulated percolation in a depth of 2 m ($W_{i,j}$ [m]) and the corresponding accumulated pesticide mass ($L_{i,j,k}$ [mg m⁻²]) were obtained. For each location in the region (*p*), these results were aggregated to an overall concentration of herbicides leaching to groundwater ($\overline{C_{p(i)}}$) that accounted for the fractional coverage of the crop ($f_{crop(j,p)}$), the fraction of the crop area sprayed with a particular herbicide ($f_{sub(k,j)}$) and a factor for the relative changes in herbicide use compared to present conditions ($f_{ind(j)}$):

$$\overline{C_{p(i)}} = \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{ncrops} \sum_{k=1}^{nsubs} (f_{crop(j,p)} f_{sub(k,j)} f_{ind(j)}) L_{i,j,k}}{\sum_{j=1}^{ncrops} f_{crop(j,p)} W_{i,j}}$$
[5]



Figure 9. Pesticide properties for the simulated compounds in paper II and paper III. For the herbicides from paper III, the K_{foc} values are given, although K_{oc} is indicated in the axis label.

4.3.4 Future Scenarios of Herbicide Use

Three scenarios of herbicide use in a future climate were explored. For each scenario, the five climate scenarios described above (*Table 3*) were included to represent climate input uncertainty.

- Scenario (A) only accounted for direct effects of climate change and assumed the cropping patterns and herbicide use to be unchanged compared to present conditions.
- Scenario (B) accounted for changes in climate and land-use. Land-use changes were represented by changes in the relative fractions of crops grown in the future. The area of spring sown cereals and spring sown oilseed rape were reduced by 60 and 100%, respectively, and replaced by autumn sown cereals and oilseed rape in a ratio of 3:2. The area of grassland was reduced by 50% in favour of maize.

Scenario (C) accounted for changes in climate, land-use and herbicide use. In addition to the changes for scenario (B), the expected increase in weedpressure is met by an increased use of herbicide. Change factors were calculated based on Wivstad (2010) and varied between 1.035 and 1.59 for the different crops, with an average increase of 45% (paper III, Table S1).

Only a few of the many possible indirect effects (cf. 3.3.2) could be assessed in this study due to a limited computational capacity and incomplete knowledge. The factors included in the analysis were considered as very likely to be relevant in the future and sensitive for herbicide leaching at regional scales, and they allowed the parameterization of the simulations within the given modelling framework. This aspect is further discussed in section 5.4.

4.3.5 Model Evaluation against Monitoring Data

As discussed in paper III, a quantitative validation of MACRO-SE is difficult, so only a qualitative test of the regional scale modelling approach was performed. Simulations were compared with groundwater monitoring data to evaluate whether MACRO-SE could distinguish between leachable and non-leachable compounds. Results from four different monitoring campaigns in the region were available (see *Figure 4*): monitoring data collected from two catchments that are part of the Swedish national long-term environmental monitoring program for pesticides (CKB, 2014), monitoring campaigns carried out by the county boards in Scania (Virgin, 2012) and Halland (Löfgren & Tollebäck, 2012) and analyses of private groundwater wells in Halland (Larsson et al., 2013). Based on these monitoring results, each herbicide was classified as detected when it was found at least once in any of the groundwater samples taken in any of the studies. In order to compare measurements with simulations, the simulations were censored based on a typical limit of detection (LOD) of 0.01 μ g l⁻¹ and the herbicides were treated as *virtual detects* when simulated concentrations exceeded the LOD at any location in the area, and as virtual non-detects if simulated concentrations were always below the LOD.

5 Results and Discussion

5.1 Field scale

5.1.1 Calibration Results

The comparison between the simulations with the ensemble of acceptable parameter combinations and the measured flux variables from paper II are shown in Figure 10. The corresponding results in paper I were similar for drainflow and bentazone concentrations in drainflow, but worse for bromide, partly because those observations were excluded from the performance criterion. The model failed to simulate the first peak of drainflow and consequently did not predict any solute transport in this period (papers I, II). This was most likely due to a lack of measurements below one meter depth, which led to wrong initial soil moisture conditions, especially with respect to the initial depth of the groundwater table. This is probably also the reason why the model underestimated the total amount of pesticide lost to drains (measured: 8.5%; simulated 3.1-6.2% of the applied dose). Nevertheless, the model described the remaining observations reasonably well. A comparison between simulated and measured state variables (water content, resident bromide and bentazone concentration in soils) showed that the variation in the replicated measurements was also reasonably well captured (paper I, Figs. 7-9).



Figure 10. Field observations (black dots) at Lanna, *Västra Götaland*, between October 1994 and December 1995 compared to model simulations (small grey dots) for (A) drainflow, (B) concentration of the herbicide bentazone in drainflow and (C) concentration of the non-reactive tracer Bromide in drainflow. Simulations with all 56 acceptable parameter combinations for paper II are displayed.

In paper I, a clear reduction in the posterior distributions was observed compared to the prior distributions for several parameters (paper I, Table 5). This is exemplified in *Figure 11* for K_{oc} , especially in the topsoil, while a greater degree of equifinality was found for the subsoil. Apart from a significant reduction in the posterior parameter ranges in the topsoil, a clear distinction between the optimum ranges for models that account for temperature dependent sorption (MV3, MV4) and those that do not account for it (MV1, MV2) was observed with smaller optimal K_{oc} values in the former case (*Figure 11*).



Figure 11. Performance of the parameter values for the sorption coefficient K_{oc} for each of the four model versions (MV; see *Figure 6*) analysed in paper I. The modelling efficiency (EF) was obtained based on comparisons between simulations with the particular parameter values in the topsoil and subsoil and measurements of bentazone resident concentration in the soil. The range of values on the x-axis represents the prior parameter range.

5.1.2 Pesticide Losses under Climate Change

Losses of pesticides to drains decreased with increasing sorption strength of the compounds and losses after spring application were generally lower than losses after autumn application for present and future climate (cf. *Figure 12*). This was observed independent of model structural version (paper I) or climate scenario (paper II).

In paper I, losses of pesticide to drains after spring application decreased from the present to the future climate for all model versions and pesticide compounds with the exception of the SsSpr-scenario with the models accounting for temperature dependent sorption (MV3, MV4). In these cases, the changes were negligible and not consistent between parameter combinations (paper I, Table 7), since the effect of temperature on sorption counteracted the effect on degradation. Leaching after autumn applications increased in the future climate in all cases. This was mainly triggered by increases in winter precipitation, since losses were reduced when only changes in temperature were considered (*Figure 12*).



Figure 12. Accumulated loss to tile-drains of the moderately sorbed pesticide after spring and autumn application for all model versions (MVs; *Figure 6*). The boxes mark the inter-quartile range, the black bar the median and the whiskers the 5^{th} and 95^{th} percentile of the results derived with the ensemble of acceptable parameter combinations. Results for present and future climates with changes in both temperature and precipitation (T&P) are presented. For autumn application, a future climate with only changes in temperature (T) is also shown.

In paper II, we showed that the direction and magnitude of change depended on the choice of the climate scenario for all PAS's (paper II, Figs. 4 and 5). An ensemble of parameter sets and climate scenarios was used to make a probabilistic assessment of the direction of change of pesticide leaching in a future climate (*Figure 13*). The ensemble estimated a 70% chance that the losses of a weakly sorbed compound applied in spring would decrease in a future climate. For moderately and strongly sorbed compounds applied in spring, the likelihood of reduced or increased future losses was similar (50%). For autumn applications, the probability of an increase in leaching losses ranged from 50% for the weakly sorbed compound to 80% for the moderately and strongly sorbed compounds.



Figure 13. Cumulative distribution function of the ensemble mean generated from all parameter sets and climate scenarios for changes from present to future for all pesticide application scenarios (PAS; as in *Table 2*): *Ws* denotes the weakly sorbed, *Ms* the moderately sorbed and *Ss* the strongly sorbed compound, while *Spr* stands for spring applications and *Aut* for autumn application.

5.1.3 Model Structural Differences vs. Parameter Uncertainty

In Paper I, a statistical analysis using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test showed that the effects of model structural differences could be distinguished despite large parameter uncertainty. It indicated that the dominant factor for moderately and strongly sorbed compounds was temperature dependent sorption, while temperature dependent diffusion was more important for weakly sorbed compounds. This demonstrated that the effect of temperature on sorption is higher for compounds with higher sorption strength.

For the weakly sorbed compound, losses were smaller when temperature dependent sorption was accounted for (see paper I, Fig.10) as the typical daily average temperatures in Sweden are less than the reference temperature of 20° C. However, for moderately and strongly sorbed compounds, the losses increased with the model accounting for temperature dependent sorption (cf. *Figure 12*). The most likely explanation for this is that stronger sorption of these compounds means that they stay close to the soil surface for longer, which increases the likelihood of losses via macropore flow (McGrath *et al.*, 2010; Larsson & Jarvis, 1999).

As noted above, the direction of change of losses from present to future climate conditions was consistent among parameter sets and the same direction was predicted by all model versions for a given PAS with the exception of the SsSpr-scenario. The magnitude of change, however, was affected by the choice of model structure. Including temperature dependent sorption led to a relative increase of losses for all compounds (*Figure 12*), due to a reduction in sorption strength at higher temperatures (*Figure 5*).

5.1.4 Climate Input Uncertainty vs. Parameter Uncertainty

In paper II, the effects of parameter uncertainty in MACRO were compared with the effects of uncertainty in the model driving data derived from the climate model projections. The relative importance of these two sources of uncertainty was found to depend on whether absolute pesticide losses or changes in these losses between present and future climates are of interest. This is in accordance to findings by Kong et al. (2013) regarding the modelling of the fate of PCBs in the environment. *Figure 14* demonstrates this difference for the weakly sorbed compound applied in spring. The effect of parameter uncertainty is demonstrated by the spread in the outputs for a given climate input data set (i.e. present or any climate scenario). The effect of climate input uncertainty is reflected by the spread between the nine climate scenarios, which is illustrated by the underlying grey area. The parameter uncertainty in this approach lumps all uncertainties related to the model (i.e. model structure, boundary conditions, parameters, etc.) and, thus, overestimates the pure parameter uncertainty

(Vrugt *et al.*, 2009). The contribution of parameter uncertainty to the overall variation in predictions decreased from 92% to 55% when focusing at predicted changes compared with absolute losses, while the effect of climate uncertainty increased from 8% to 45%. This effect was most pronounced in the case of a weakly sorbed pesticide applied in autumn, where the uncertainty due to climate input data increased from 12% to 64%, and least pronounced for the strongly sorbed compound applied in autumn (3% to 30%). See paper II for details.

A non-parametric analysis of variance (Kruskal-Wallis test) showed that the ensemble mean prediction for the changes in pesticide losses between present and future climate did not differ significantly between the individual parameterizations of MACRO for the spring applied compounds and the weakly sorbed compound in autumn (paper II, Table 3 & Fig. 7). This suggests that using only one MACRO-parameterization per soil type together with an ensemble of climate scenarios could be a reasonable strategy to adopt for large scale studies. However, for moderately and strongly sorbed compounds applied in autumn, this simplification might lead to biased results. Nevertheless, probabilistic predictions of future pesticide losses or changes in losses, as illustrated in *Figure 13*, require ensembles of both MACRO-parameterizations and climate scenarios.



Figure 14. Cumulative distribution functions of simulated pesticide losses (left) and predicted changes in pesticide losses (right) for the weakly sorbed pesticide applied in spring (WsSpr). The changes are calculated as future minus present, i.e. values larger than zero represent an increase in the future, and values smaller than zero a reduction.

5.2 Regional Scale

5.2.1 Model Evaluation against Monitoring Data

Table 5 shows that 29 out of 33 herbicides were correctly classified by MACRO-SE as either *leachable* or *non-leachable* in the comparison with groundwater monitoring data. This gives some confidence in the simulation results, even if a quantitative evaluation remains to be performed. *Table 6* presents the fraction of the area for which simulated concentrations exceeded the LOD. Of the 12 herbicides that were simulated as *leachable* (see *Table 6*), only flurtamone and propoxycarbazone-sodium were never detected in any groundwater sample, probably because they are rather new (first registered in 2002 and 2005) and may not have had sufficient time yet to leach to the groundwater (see also Åkesson *et al.*, 2014). Point sources are possible explanations for the compounds that were detected but not simulated with concentrations above LOD. For further discussions on the comparison between simulations and monitoring results, see paper III.

Table 5. Comparison of the modelling results with regional groundwater monitoring results. Each cell of this "confusion matrix" shows the number of true positives, false positives, true negatives and false negatives, respectively. This is based on simulated concentrations above or below the limit of detections (LOD) of 0.01 μ g l⁻¹ ("true" and "false") compared to detects or non-detects in groundwater monitoring ("positives" and "negatives"). Four of the 37 simulated herbicides were not analysed in any of the monitoring studies and therefore excluded here.

Simulations Monitoring	Simulated concentrations > LOD	Simulated concentrations <lod< th=""><th>SUM</th></lod<>	SUM
Detected	10	2	12
Not detected	2	19	21
SUM	12	21	33

Table 6. Area-averaged relative contribution of different herbicides to the total herbicide concentration in leachate [%] and the fraction of the arable area for which modelled herbicide concentrations exceeded the limit of detection (LOD) of 0.01 μ g l⁻¹. Only those herbicides and their physicochemical properties are listed, for which simulated concentrations exceeded the LOD at least in some part of the area.

Herbicide	K_{foc} [ml g ⁻¹]	DT ₅₀ [days]	n _f [-]	Contribution to total herbicide concentration [%]	Fraction of the area which exceeded the LOD of $\mu g l^{-1}$.
clopyralid	5.0	34	1.00	42.9	1.000
bentazone	55.3	45	1.00	26.9	0.990
metazachlor	79.6	16	0.99	10.0	0.830
metamitron	86.4	19	0.81	8.4	0.860
propoxycarbazone-Na	28.8	61	1.00	4.5	0.920
ethofumesate	187.3	97	0.88	1.6	0.330
MCPA	74.0	24	0.68	1.3	0.120
quinmerac	86.0	17	0.88	1.0	0.038
flurtamone	329.0	130	0.90	0.8	0.037
chloridazon	199.0	43	0.84	0.8	0.018
fluroxypyr	68.0	13	0.93	0.6	0.004
metribuzin	37.9	12	1.08	0.4	0.025

5.2.2 Simulated Field-Scale Leachate Concentrations

Figure 15 gives an overview of the field-scale herbicide concentrations simulated for each PAS and soil type included in paper III. It suggests that herbicide properties have a stronger influence on the overall leachability than soil properties (texture class, organic matter content) and hydrological class. The indicated changes (+/-) refer to the direct effects of climate change. The simulated concentrations decreased in the future for compounds that leached at the highest concentrations under present conditions (bentazone, clopyralid, propoxicarbazone-Na), whereas they increased for most other compounds. Predicted concentrations increased for a few compounds that did not leach under present conditions (the non-leachable ones), but for most of them no change was simulated. These field-scale concentrations do not include landscape or regional scale features such as soil surface, fractional crop coverage, or fraction of the crop area sprayed with the herbicide. However, these results are valuable for the interpretation of aggregated landscape or regional scale results and necessary to disentangle key-factors. Discussions on the specific responses of individual herbicides to climatic or soil-related factors are, however, outside the scope of this thesis.

Pf spr We spr diguet Pf spr We spr diguet Pf spr We spr Me spr diguet Pf spr We spr Me spr diguet Pf spr Me spr Me spr diguet Pf spr Me spr Me spr Me spr Me spr Me spr diguet Pf spr Me spr	Strapp Image: Strapp	acloni	PB spr PT spr																								
Singreg Image: Singr		carfen	PT spr SC spr																								
diguteProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprintProprint<	diguta PF spr. Image: Spr. Spr. Spr. Spr. Spr. Spr. Spr. Spr.	deemed		⊨						╞																	
ferma WC spr Image: Spr	fance We gr			1	_		-	-	-	╞──			-	_	_	_		_	-	_	_			_		_	
Name WC op 1 Image Image <t< td=""><td>MX G op M MX G op M</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>-</td><td></td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>i</td><td></td><td></td><td>-</td><td>_</td><td></td><td>_</td><td></td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>_</td><td></td><td></td><td>-</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>	MX G op M				-		-	-	-	i			-	_		_		-	-	_			-				
mora WC at word	ymmu W W I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I		WC aut																								
MMA WC sp WC sp WC sp WC sp WC	MARAN WC qr	prosul														+				+			+				
thife SC syn Image: SC syn	attraction Stropp a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a	floras	SC spr WC spr																								
Bit pp: + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + </td <td>Barp + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +</td> <td>thifen</td> <td>SC spr</td> <td></td> <td>+</td> <td></td> <td>+</td>	Barp + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	thifen	SC spr																						+		+
Maypr WCard Nappr WCard	MA spr WC art WC art	nhenme		1		-	+	_	+					_	+	+			+	+		+	+	+		+	
cyclox Win win win win yn yn win win yn	SB spr WC spr Irrifle SB spr WC spr Irrifle SB spr WC spr Irrifle Irrifle		MA spr SC spr WC aut																								
cyclow WR aut pyrox WC spr WC spr WG spr WR aut WG spr WR aut MG sp	cyclox WR aut pyrox WC spr WC spr WC spr WC spr WR aut WC spr WR aut WC spr WR aut WC spr WR aut WC spr WR aut WC spr WR aut WC spr Harts + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	propyz	WR aut													+				+			+	+	+	+	+
trifla SB spr Image: Spr	riflu SB spr - - - + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	cyclox	WR aut																						+		-
triben SC opr WR aut WR aut WR aut WC spr + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	triben SC. spr WR aut WR aut WR aut MA spr Hury + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	pyroxs	WC spr																					+	+	+	+
WC spr + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	WC spr + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	triflu																									
cleho WR ayr	ckcho WR aut WR spr H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H	triben	SC spr WC spr																								
flupyr WC aut + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + <th< td=""><td>flupyr WC aut + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +</td><td>cletho</td><td>WR aut</td><td></td><td></td><td>+</td><td>+</td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td></td><td></td><td>+</td><td>+</td><td>+</td><td>+</td><td>+</td><td>+</td><td>+</td><td></td><td></td></th<>	flupyr WC aut + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	cletho	WR aut			+	+	-	-					-	-	-			+	+	+	+	+	+	+		
messou WC aut WC spr + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	mesosu WC aut WC spr + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	forams	MA spr			+	+								-	-			+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+
amidos SC spr WC spr H Image: constraint of the straint of the s	amidos SC spr WC spr - - - - - - - - - + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	flupyr	WC aut			+	+												+		+		+	+	+	+	+
Minutes WC spr - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - <t< td=""><td>WC spr - - - - - - - + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +</td></t<> <td>mesosu</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>+</td> <td>++</td> <td>+</td> <td>+</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>+</td> <td>+</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>+</td> <td>++</td> <td>++</td> <td>++</td> <td>++</td> <td>++</td> <td>++</td> <td>++</td>	WC spr - - - - - - - + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	mesosu				+	++	+	+						+	+				+	++	++	++	++	++	++	++
Mc spr - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + <td>WC spr - - - - - - - - - - - - - + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +<td>amidos</td><td>SC spr WC spr</td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td></td><td></td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td></td><td></td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td></td><td></td><td>-</td><td></td><td>+</td><td></td><td></td></td>	WC spr - - - - - - - - - - - - - + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + <td>amidos</td> <td>SC spr WC spr</td> <td>-</td> <td>-</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>-</td> <td>-</td> <td>-</td> <td>-</td> <td>-</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>-</td> <td>-</td> <td>-</td> <td>-</td> <td>-</td> <td>-</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>-</td> <td></td> <td>+</td> <td></td> <td></td>	amidos	SC spr WC spr	-	-			-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-	-			-		+		
fluro SC spr WC spr minul	flurox SC spr WC spr rimsul + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	metsul	SC spr WC spr	-	-			-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	+			
MA spr - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - </td <td>MA spr PT spr - + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + <</td> <td>flurox</td> <td>SC spr</td> <td>+</td> <td>+</td> <td>++</td> <td></td> <td>-</td> <td>-</td> <td>+</td> <td>+</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>-</td> <td></td> <td>-</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>+</td> <td>++</td> <td></td> <td>+</td> <td>+</td> <td></td> <td>+++++</td> <td>+</td> <td>+++++</td>	MA spr PT spr - + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + <	flurox	SC spr	+	+	++		-	-	+	+			-		-			+	++		+	+		+++++	+	+++++
PT spr - + + + - + + + - + + + + - + + + - + + + - + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	PT spr - + + - - - - - + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + <td>sulfos</td> <td>WC spr</td> <td>-</td> <td>-</td> <td></td> <td>-</td> <td>-</td> <td>-</td> <td>-</td> <td>-</td> <td>-</td> <td></td> <td>-</td> <td>-</td> <td>-</td> <td>-</td> <td>-</td> <td>-</td> <td>-</td> <td></td> <td>-</td> <td>-</td> <td></td> <td>-</td> <td></td> <td>-</td>	sulfos	WC spr	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-		-		-
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	rimsul	MA spr PT spr	-	-	++	+		-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+++		-	-	-	-	-
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	MCEA WC spr - - - + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	flurta			+	++	+++			+++	++	++	++	+++	+++		+++			++	++	++		+++	+++		
mesotr MA spr + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + <t< td=""><td>mesor MA spr + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + <th< td=""><td>МСРА</td><td>SC spr WC spr</td><td></td><td></td><td>+</td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>-</td><td>2</td><td></td><td></td><td>+++</td><td>+++</td><td></td><td>++</td><td></td><td>+++</td><td>+++</td><td></td><td>+++</td></th<></td></t<>	mesor MA spr + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + <th< td=""><td>МСРА</td><td>SC spr WC spr</td><td></td><td></td><td>+</td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>-</td><td>2</td><td></td><td></td><td>+++</td><td>+++</td><td></td><td>++</td><td></td><td>+++</td><td>+++</td><td></td><td>+++</td></th<>	МСРА	SC spr WC spr			+	-	-	-						-	2			+++	+++		++		+++	+++		+++
WR aut + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	wR aut + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	mesotr	MA spr	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	-	+	+
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	ethofu SB spr + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + <td< td=""><td>quinme</td><td>WR aut</td><td>+</td><td>+</td><td>++</td><td>++</td><td>- +</td><td>- +</td><td>+</td><td>+</td><td>+</td><td></td><td>- +</td><td>- +</td><td>- +</td><td></td><td>+</td><td>++</td><td>+++</td><td>++</td><td>++</td><td>++</td><td>++</td><td>++</td><td>++</td><td>++</td></td<>	quinme	WR aut	+	+	++	++	- +	- +	+	+	+		- +	- +	- +		+	++	+++	++	++	++	++	++	++	++
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c} \text{metrib} \\ \text{PT spr} \\ \text{metami} \\ \text{SB spr} \\ \text{metami} \\ \text{metami} \\ \text{SB spr} \\ \text{metami} \\ \text{metami} \\ \text{SB spr} \\ \text{metami} \\ \text{metami} \\ \text{spr} $			+	+	+	+	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	-	-			+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c} \text{metami} & \text{SB spr} & + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + $					+	+	+			+	+		+	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
stratza SR spr WR aut + - + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	metaza SR spr WR aut + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +				-	+	+	+	+		-	-		-	-	-	_	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
WR aut - + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + <th< td=""><td>WR aut - + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +<td></td><td>SR spr</td><td></td><td>+</td><td></td><td>+</td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>+</td><td></td><td>+</td><td>+</td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>++</td><td>+</td><td>++</td><td></td><td>++</td><td></td><td>++</td><td>+</td><td>+</td><td>+</td><td>+</td></td></th<>	WR aut - + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + <td></td> <td>SR spr</td> <td></td> <td>+</td> <td></td> <td>+</td> <td>-</td> <td>-</td> <td>+</td> <td></td> <td>+</td> <td>+</td> <td>-</td> <td>-</td> <td>-</td> <td>++</td> <td>+</td> <td>++</td> <td></td> <td>++</td> <td></td> <td>++</td> <td>+</td> <td>+</td> <td>+</td> <td>+</td>		SR spr		+		+	-	-	+		+	+	-	-	-	++	+	++		++		++	+	+	+	+
SC spr WC spr SR spr B spr - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - <	score Score <td< td=""><td></td><td></td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>+</td><td>+</td><td>+</td><td>+</td><td>+</td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>+</td><td>+</td><td>+</td><td>+</td><td>+</td><td>+</td><td>+</td><td>+</td><td>+</td><td>+</td><td>+</td><td>+</td><td></td><td>-</td><td>+</td></td<>			-	-	+	+	+	+	+	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		-	+
educes	clopy WC spr SR spr P - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -	propox				-	-	-		-			-	-							-		-				
PB spr P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	PB spr PB	clopyr	WC spr SR spr	-	- - -	-	-	-	-	-	- - -	- - -	-	-	-	-	-	- - -	- - -	-	-	-	- - -	-	-	-	-
	11n 11u 20h 20n 22n 22u 11h 11n 11u 21h 22h 22n 22u 11n 11u 12n 12u 22h 22n 22u 24n 24u 44n 44u	bentaz	MA spr	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	2	-	-	-	E	-	-	-	8	8	8	-
				11r	110	20b	20n	22p	22µ	11b	110	110	21h	22b	22n	2211	11n	110	12n	12.0	22h	22 m	22.	24n	2411	44n	44n

Figure 15. Matrix of simulated field-scale herbicide concentrations in leachate for all pesticide application scenarios (see abbreviation list, *Table 6* and Table S2 in paper III) and FOOTPRINT-soil types (see 4.3.2) under present climate conditions. Colour coding ranges from white $(0 \ \mu g \ l^{-1})$ to black (>5 $\mu g \ l^{-1}$). Average changes in the future of more than 0.001 $\mu g \ l^{-1}$ are indicated by "+" for increases and "-" for decreases (results for the scenario that only considered the direct effects).



Figure 16. Herbicide concentration in leachate $[\mu g \Gamma^1]$ under present climatic conditions (A) and under future climate conditions (B-F) when only the direct effects of climate change were considered as projected based on the five climate scenarios (see *Table 3*).

5.2.3 Aggregated Herbicide Concentrations in Leachate

Aggregated herbicide concentrations in leachate under present conditions varied spatially between zero and 1.4 µg Γ^1 (*Figure 16A*). Regions with high concentrations correspond to areas with soils of larger clay content (see *Figure 15* and paper III, Figs. 3 & S8), because the PTFs in MACRO-SE predict macropore flow to be stronger in these soils (Moeys *et al.*, 2012). In clayey till soils, typical for southern Sweden, preferential flow extends well below the root zone due to the presence of fissures (Stenemo *et al.*, 2005; Jørgensen *et al.*, 1998). Areas with higher clay contents can, therefore, be at risk of groundwater pollution (Stenemo *et al.*, 2005).

Figure 17 shows the change in these simulated concentrations in relation to topsoil properties and changes in climate variables. Topsoil clay content had the strongest impact on the relative change in concentration in a future climate compared to present conditions (*Figure 17A*). Thus, areas most at risk today as a result of pronounced leaching in macropores are projected to become even more at risk in the future. This agrees with the experimental findings reported by Beulke *et al.* (2002). Changes in annual precipitation seemed more influential than changes in temperature (*Figure 17C, D*). A simple correlation analysis confirmed these visual impressions (see paper III).



Figure 17. Relative change in herbicide leachate concentration from present to future in relation to topsoil properties (A: clay content; B: organic carbon content) and climatic variables (C: change in annual temperature; D: relative change in annual precipitation) for the future herbicide use scenario (A) with only direct effects of climate change. For each climate scenario (see legend), each dot represent one of the 24 soils that were simulated.

The changes in predicted herbicide concentrations depended on the climate scenario (*Figure 16*). Simulated changes for scenario (A), which only considered direct effects of climate change, ranged from strong reductions (*Figure 16* (*F*) ECHAM5) to small or moderate increases over the entire region (*Figure 16* (*B*) BCM, (*C*) IPSL). This reflects the correlation with the projected precipitation amounts (*Figure 17D*) as ECHAM5 is the climate scenario that projected smallest increases in precipitation amounts, while IPSL and BCM projected largest increases in annual rainfall (see paper III, Table 1).

Only a few herbicides contributed to the overall concentrations in leachate to groundwater (*Table 6*; *Figure 15*). The contribution of the different crops to the total leaching (see *Table 7*) is not only influenced by the herbicides used on those crops, but also depends on how widely the crop is grown and how much of the crop is sprayed with that herbicide. Spring cereals, peas and winter rape were the main contributors to overall simulated concentrations, followed by sugar beets and winter cereals.

	Future climate conditions								
Crop	Present	Scenario (A)	Scenario (B)	Scenario (C)					
Winter cereals	7.80	3.80	5.30	3.90					
Spring cereals	29.30	23.80	7.90	6.40					
Winter rape	24.50	28.50	37.40	36.80					
Sugar beets	10.80	19.20	16.50	20.40					
Peas	25.50	22.60	19.20	16.30					
Potatoes	0.50	0.60	0.50	0.40					
Maize	1.40	1.40	13.20	15.80					
Spring rape	0.04	0.06	0.00	0.00					

Table 7. Area-averaged relative contributions (%) of the different crops to the overall herbicide concentrations in leachate to groundwater for present and future conditions.

The contribution of the crops differed between present and future climate conditions and also changed with the future scenarios for herbicide use (*Table 7*) as a result of the projected changes in cropping patterns and the effects of climate on the leaching of specific compounds (cf. *Figure 15*). The contribution of peas decreased, while the contribution of sugar beets increased markedly under future climate conditions, although the area of both crops was unchanged. This direct effect of climate change suggests that the herbicides used on sugar beets are rather susceptible to macropore flow.

The contribution of winter cereals decreased in a future climate, although the cropped area and the estimated future use of herbicides increased. In this case, the direct effects of climate change outweighed the indirect effects. Many of the herbicides used on winter cereals are either strongly sorbed and not leachable or low-dose mobile compounds, which are less susceptible to macropore flow. Before performing this study, the expectation was that an increased cultivation of winter cereals would have negative impacts on future pesticide leaching, because of the higher losses from autumn applied pesticides compared to those applied in spring (paper I, II, Lewan et al., 2009). This regional scale study stressed, however, the importance of considering real compounds at their actual recommended doses rather than hypothetical ones. Comparing a compound applied in spring and autumn on winter cereals gave equivalent results to what was found in paper I and II (see e.g. flurtamon, Figure 15). Applications of a compound to spring cereals gave similar or higher concentrations than if the same compound was applied on winter cereals in spring, even if the application rate was lower (e.g. MCPA). This is because applications on spring cereals usually occur later (see paper III, Table S2) on less developed crop canopies, so the interception of pesticides is less than in winter cereals.

Contrary to winter cereals, winter rape is a larger contributor partly because leachable compounds such as metazachlor and quinmerac (see *Figure 15* and *Table 6*) are applied in autumn, and in the case of metazachlor even at high application rates. Additionally, 70% of the applications occur in autumn compared to less than 50% in the case of winter cereals. Thus, based on this, efforts should be put into reducing leaching risks from sugar beet and winter rape, as their contribution is projected to increase even when only direct effects of climate change are accounted for, which are likely to occur, even if the extent is uncertain.

Spatial aggregation of the results showed that under present conditions, simulated concentrations in leachate to groundwater were likely to exceed the EU drinking water guideline value of 0.5 μ g l⁻¹ on 35% of the arable land in the study area (*Figure 18*). Accounting only for the direct effects of climate change (scenario A), this area was projected to decrease to 31%, as estimated by the ensemble mean. The variation among the five climate models ranged from a decrease of the area at risk to 5% to an increase to 47%. Accounting for indirect effects of climate change, the area with simulated concentrations exceeding the guideline value increased to 50% (19-70%) in the case of scenario (B) (i.e. only considering changes in cropping patterns) and to 70% (50-80%), when a likely increase in herbicide use was also considered (scenario C). This suggests a doubling of the area at risk of groundwater contamination in the future compared to present-day climatic conditions.



Figure 18. Spatial aggregation of the herbicide concentration in leachate for the entire simulated region (aggregated over each pixel) for the three future herbicide use scenarios analysed in paper III. Each curve represents the fraction of the arable land for which the herbicide leachate concentration is predicted not to exceed a certain threshold value (e.g. the EU drinking water guideline value of 0.5 µg Γ^1). The area for which the concentrations might exceed that value can be calculated as 1-"y-value". The ensemble prediction is calculated from the results obtained with the five future climate scenarios (see *Table 3*).

5.3 Uncertainties

5.3.1 Different Sources of Uncertainty

This thesis tried to disentangle the effects of some of the uncertainties inherent to modelling pesticide fate under climate change and to evaluate their relative importance. Papers I and II demonstrated that the level of uncertainty depended on the pesticide application scenario and on whether absolute losses were considered as output or predicted changes. For absolute pesticide losses, the effect of parameter uncertainty was large. Nevertheless, effects of model structural differences could still be identified. For predicted changes, the climate input uncertainty dominated, while parameter uncertainty was less important. This is also implied by the results of paper I, as the different structural model versions indicated the same direction of change for most of the PAS, even if the magnitude of change was clearly affected by the model version.

To assess the part of the *cascade of uncertainty* related to the generation of the climate scenarios, a limited analysis was performed based on the data used in paper II. It showed that the uncertainty arising from the choice of GCMs had a larger impact than the variation in emission scenarios or the natural variability represented by the variation in initial states of the GCM. Whether this was only due to the larger number of realisations (5 different GCMs, compared to 3 different GHG emission scenarios and 3 different initial states; see *Table 3*), was not further analysed. Nevertheless, it is in line with findings of studies in various fields of research (e.g. Dobler *et al.*, 2012; Kjellström *et al.*, 2011; Graham *et al.*, 2007b). Although the uncertainties due to the choice of the RCMs or the downscaling method can be high (e.g. Chen *et al.*, 2011), they were not analysed in this thesis. Those uncertainties are likely to add to the climate uncertainty, which would further strengthen the conclusion of paper II that the climate uncertainty is very important.

5.3.2 Uncertainties in Regional Scale Assessments

In the regional scale study, only climate input uncertainty was included, which showed the same patterns as in the field scale analysis (paper II): the direction and magnitude of change was strongly influenced by the climate models (*Figure 16*). The strength of the effect depended on soil type and for some areas in the region concentrations were always lower in the future for any climate scenario and any future herbicide use scenario.

Parameter uncertainty was not accounted for at the regional scale, although it must have an impact on the simulations. Accounting for uncertainty was shown to increase predicted concentrations, especially for high-percentile concentrations of spatially aggregated data (Van den Berg *et al.*, 2012; Heuvelink *et al.*, 2010). Coquet et al. (2005) furthermore showed that simulations with average values for pesticide properties (K_{oc} , DT_{50}) taken from a database underestimated risks compared to regional scale simulations based on site-specific estimates of the pesticide properties. How different sitespecific values for K_{oc} and DT_{50} can be compared to database values is illustrated for bentazone in *Figure 9*, where the values estimated as good predictors for the field site (weakly sorbed compound) are marked together with the bentazone parameterization used in the regional scale study. Nevertheless, experience from the field studies reported in Papers I and II suggests that predicted changes in pesticide leaching are more robust in the face of parameter uncertainty and should depend mainly on the climate scenario.

The contribution of uncertainty in DT_{50} values has been found to be larger than the contribution of K_{oc} or uncertainty in organic matter content, soil texture or hydraulic conductivity for regional scale uncertainty assessments with GeoPEARL (Heuvelink *et al.*, 2010). For MACRO-SE, this might be different, as macropore flow is considered, which may increase the relative importance of sorption strength, as discussed earlier (chapter 5.1.3), and of the parameters governing the exchange between matrix and macropores. PTFs describing the spatial variability in degradation and sorption developed by e.g. Ghafoor *et al.* (2013; 2011), Fenner *et al.* (2007) or Von Götz & Richter (1999) could be implemented in future studies.

Uncertainty and variability in the fractional coverage of crops also affects the spatial estimates of leaching risk (Balderacchi *et al.*, 2008). *Figure 19* illustrates the effect of accounting for detailed (catchment-scale) statistics on the spatial distribution of crops compared to applying average statistics for the entire region: the spatial variability increases, hot-spots are more frequent and the predicted risks are higher, when higher resolution input data is available. The average herbicide concentration in leachate increased from 0.43 µg Γ^1 with average crop statistics (*Figure 19B*) to 0.45 µg Γ^1 with detailed statistics (*Figure 19A or Figure 16A*). For higher percentiles of spatially aggregated values, the changes might be larger than for the mean or median values.



Figure 19. Effect of accounting for detailed catchment-scale crop statistics (A) in regional scale analysis as opposed to the use of average (more easily available) crop statistics (B) under present climatic conditions.

Uncertainty in pesticide usage will have large impacts in catchment or regional scale studies (Åkesson *et al.*, 2013; Kreuger & Törnqvist, 1998). The two catchments used in paper III to parameterize pesticide usage were rather representative for the entire GSS-region at least regarding the cropped area sprayed with herbicides and the fractional coverage of crops. To overcome constraints on the availability of input data for large scale assessments in the future, Miraglia *et al.* (2009) suggested exploring methodologies to derive actual pesticide usage information at the EU level and similarly, some Swedish authorities are discussing the possibility of collecting such information from the farmers (Moeys, J., pers. comm.). Detailed use information at a regional scale would certainly increase the reliability of predictive modelling exercises and reduce this type of epistemic uncertainty (Refsgaard *et al.*, 2013).

Uncertainties related to the scenarios chosen to represent future herbicide use are more difficult to analyse. It seems that the average increase in herbicide use (45%) was higher than the estimated 16 to 28% increase in pesticide use in the US (Koleva & Schneider, 2009), but within the range of estimates from Kattwinkel *et al.* (2011) on insecticide application rates in Europe (22% to 23fold the current level). Although insecticide use might increase relatively more than herbicide use in Sweden, the estimated increases seem realistic considering that the changes in weed pressure will be higher at higher latitudes. Further uncertainties arise from the many direct and indirect effects that were not included in this thesis, which are difficult to quantify.

5.4 Other Potential Direct & Indirect Effects of Climate Change

The range of climate change effects that could be included in this thesis was limited due to computational and other technical constraints. In the following, I discuss a few additional aspects and factors that were not accounted for in the published papers and briefly discuss their implications.

5.4.1 Intensity and Frequency of Rainfall Events

Intensive rainfall events are very likely to become more frequent in a future climate (IPCC, 2012; Nikulin *et al.*, 2011; Christensen & Christensen, 2003). The delta-change approach used to generate future climate scenarios accounts for average changes in the monthly precipitation totals and changes the precipitation intensities accordingly. *Figure 20* presents a histogram of hourly rainfall for the reference climate of *Västra Götaland* (papers I and II) and *Table 8* gives the relative change in the frequency of hourly rainfall above a certain threshold for the different climate scenarios of paper II. Up to a threshold of 15 mm, the frequency of rainfall events increased by up to 97% depending on the climate scenario. The change in the frequency of rainfall events, and ranged from -12% to +100% depending on the climate scenario.



Hourly rainfall [mm]

Figure 20. Frequency distribution of hourly rainfall events under present climate conditions in *Västra Götaland* (reference time series in paper I and II).

-				
Climate Scenario	> 2 mm	>10 mm	>15 mm	>20 mm
CS1 (BCM)	+10%	+65%	+12%	+50%
CS2 (CCSM3)	+13%	+75%	+17%	-12%
CS3 (HADCM3)	+19%	+83%	+33%	+88%
CS4 (IPSL)	+22%	+97%	+33%	+100%
CS5 (ECHAM5-A1B-r1)	+17%	+75%	+12%	+50%
CS6 (ECHAM5-A1B-r2)	+21%	+95%	+33%	+25%
CS7 (ECHAM5-A1B-r3)	+12%	+83%	+21%	+62%
CS5 (ECHAM5-B1)	+ 9%	+49%	+ 4%	+/-0%
CS5 (ECHAM5-A2)	+18%	+87%	+21%	+25%

Table 8. Relative change in the frequency of occurrence of hourly rainfall amounts above a certain threshold for all climate scenarios of paper II.

The method, however, did not change the number of days with rainfall and thus, did not account for changes in the length of wet and dry spells. For Swedish conditions, the likelihood of extended dry spells is rather low (Kjellström *et al.*, 2014) and, thus, this might not be overly important. Nevertheless, if the delta-change method overestimates the total number of rain days and/or underestimates potential drought periods, it is likely that pesticide losses will be underestimated because degradation rates would be reduced in drier soils and the days with rain would have relatively more intense rainstorms, which might trigger more macropore flow.

Another aspect is that the delta-change method cannot account for a change in the frequency distribution of rainfall events, which could mean a relatively larger increase in heavy rainfall events compared to the average increase in precipitation. According to recent projections with RCMs run at very high spatial resolution (1-3 km), high-intensity short-term rainfall event (convective rain showers) may increase even more in their intensity in a future warmer climate than previously projected (Kendon *et al.*, 2014). This would have most impact if these events occur close to the day of application.

The effect of randomly choosing another application date within the given 2-week application window, still applying pesticides on the same date under present and future conditions was tested as mentioned in paper II (see *Figure 21* WsSpr). For the ensemble prediction of changes in pesticide losses from present to future, the effect seemed negligible. This should be the case for all compounds as weakly sorbed compounds are most strongly influenced by rainfall patterns shortly after pesticide application (McGrath *et al.*, 2010). An additional small test was performed, in which the application date for the different climate scenarios was varied. The effects of choosing the same date for present and future simulations or choosing different dates for different

climate scenarios were small for most pesticide application scenarios (*Figure 21*). Only for the weakly sorbed compound applied in spring, the uncertainty was higher, as expected from earlier studies (McGrath *et al.*, 2010). However, the general tendency towards a reduction in pesticide losses still held. This gives some indication of potential results obtained from simulations that account for changes in rainfall patterns around the date of application, which previous studies have shown to be important (e.g. Brown & van Beinum, 2009; Lewan *et al.*, 2009; Nolan *et al.*, 2008). Nevertheless, a more thorough investigation of the effect of changes in rainfall patterns would be valuable. This is especially important if the focus is on the risk of surface water contamination via runoff or sub-surface drains, especially for predictions of the maximum concentrations that are important for ecotoxicological effects, rather than average concentrations in the leachate.



Figure 21. Effect of rainfall patterns around the day of application for the PAS of the weakly and the moderately sorbed compounds applied in spring and autumn (see *Table 2*). "same AD" denotes that the application date (AD) was the same for present and all nine climate scenarios. "diff. AD" denotes that the AD differed between the climate scenarios and the reference conditions. For the PAS of WsSpr, a second set of both, the case of identical AD as well as different AD was tested, which are shown in grey and marked as "same2" and "diff.2".

5.4.2 Soil properties

The organic carbon content of the soil acts as a major sorbent for pesticides and thus reduces leaching (see also Figure 15). Changes in climate variables will have effects on the soil organic carbon content (see Table 1), which could be assessed using carbon turnover models (Lugato et al., 2014; Jones et al., 2005). Organic carbon content might decrease in a warmer climate due to increased turn-over of the organic matter, but this could be counteracted by a higher biomass production, which would lead to higher carbon inputs to the soil (Davidson & Janssens, 2006). A preliminary sensitivity test showed that the slight change (3%) in organic carbon content (predicted by Lugato et al., 2014) had little effect on the predictions. Not surprisingly, more drastic changes in soil organic carbon content (-40%) would lead to significant changes in predicted leaching (+30%) as demonstrated by a comparison of similar FSTs, which mainly differ in their organic carbon coding⁴. Drastic changes in soil organic matter content are rather unlikely to occur purely as a result of the direct effects of climate change, but could possibly occur due to changes in land management practices (i.e. land-use, fertilization, drainage) that affect the soil organic carbon stocks, as shown by Karlsson et al. (2003) from long-term monitoring data in Sweden.

Changes in soil structure resulting from altered frequencies of freeze-thaw cycles and extended drought periods may also affect pesticide leaching in a changing climate (*Table 1*). This would have consequences for rapid leaching via macropores as shown experimentally by Beulke *et al.* (2002).

5.4.3 Land-use

A change in the area of land used for agriculture is another aspect which could have been included in this thesis (Kattwinkel *et al.*, 2011; Beulke *et al.*, 2007). In Sweden, the trend in the recent past has been a reduction in the area of arable land by 28% since the 1950s and by 10% since the 1980s, mainly due to afforestation and urbanization (SCB, 2013a). However, these trends are likely to slow down, at least in major agricultural areas such as Scania (Länsstyrelsen, 2015). Kattwinkel *et al.* (2011) assumed that the area of cultivated arable land in Scandinavia would increase in the future and identified this as a major factor for the projected increase in aquatic exposure to insecticides in Scandinavia in a future climate. Similar results could be expected for aggregated herbicide concentrations.

 $^{^4}$ Average herbicide concentration for Y22n (0.4 $\mu g \ l^{-1})$ compared to Y22u (0.53 $\mu g \ l^{-1}).$

5.4.4 Crop development

Changes in crop development were not accounted for in our study, despite strong evidence of significantly prolonged growing seasons (e.g. Trnka *et al.*, 2011), which would imply shifts in sowing and pesticide application dates (Olesen *et al.*, 2012; 2011). It is difficult to judge the importance of these factors, as climate change affects not only crop development and application timings, but also application amounts (Henriksen *et al.*, 2013; Beulke *et al.*, 2007).

Nevertheless, Beulke *et al.* (2007) identified a four-fold increase in the application rate as the major driver of increased maximum daily concentrations predicted for the herbicide mecoprop, despite 5 weeks earlier application in spring and 10 days earlier spraying in autumn. This gives support to the conclusions drawn from a limited preliminary sensitivity analysis to the work carried out in Paper III that changes in application rate are more important than changes in crop development or application timing. Furthermore, changes in application date would probably be small in relation to the uncertainty and spread in application dates at the catchment scale (up to 8 weeks for many crop-herbicide combinations), which reflects inter-annual climate variation, differences between soil types and the workload of farmers and sprayers (paper III, Fig. S5).

However, as the aggregated results were dominated by a few compounds and crops, shifts in application dates for compounds used on these crops could have a significant impact on the overall results. The direction of such changes would generally be towards increased losses, when pesticides are applied later in autumn (Lewan *et al.*, 2009). If pesticides are applied earlier in spring, the time for degradation is longer, which would reduce leaching losses. Nevertheless, as discussed earlier, losses are more sensitive to changes in the precipitation patterns around the date of application, which can lead to high losses and thus outweigh this effect, as demonstrated by Lewan *et al.* (2009).

5.4.5 Pesticide compounds

It is rather likely that there will be new compounds available by the end of the century (e.g. Beulke *et al.*, 2007) as suggested by the history of chemical plant protection from the beginning of the 19th century until today (Delaplane, 1996). The future developments are very difficult to predict, but social and political pressures are unlikely to allow the registration of new compounds that have worse environmental impact than today's compounds. In this respect, the regional scale study can be considered a worst-case business-as-usual scenario analysis for herbicide concentrations in leachate. The current trend in many

parts of Europe is towards farming with fewer pesticides as a result of EU-legislation (Hillocks, 2012).

The introduction of low-dose compounds in the 1980s/1990s resulted in reduced amounts of pesticides used in agriculture (see also SCB, 2013b). However, the total sold amounts of pesticides relative to the arable land in Sweden have slightly increased since the early 1990s partly due to an increase in area cultivated with cereals at the expenses of fallow land (SCB, 2013b). A limited analysis of the temporal trends of the median doses for different herbicides in the two monitoring catchments used in paper III showed that the changes were not very large for most compounds during the last 20 years. However, for a few compounds, the median dose did actually decrease during this period (e.g. florasulam used on spring cereals, ethofumesate and chloridazone used on sugar beets), which might suggest that the overall trend is towards applications with lower doses. In the case of sugar beets, it might be correlated to an increase in the spraying frequency, but this was not further analysed.

5.5 How Representative are these Results?

The field study was a rather extreme worst-case scenario with 8.5% of the applied herbicide lost to drains, which is considerably higher than typical losses to tile drains (<1%; Brown & van Beinum, 2009). Earlier studies showed that high leaching losses can occasionally occur (up to 10.6%; Brown & van Beinum, 2009) and can certainly be expected from such soils with no-till practice (e.g. Gish *et al.*, 1991).

The conclusions that can be drawn from the field scale studies on the effect of temperature dependent sorption depend on the studied compound and their thermodynamic behaviour as well as the soil type. As most pesticides sorb to soils with exothermic reactions (e.g. ten Hulscher & Cornelissen, 1996), these results are probably rather representative for most pesticides. The sorption enthalpy, for which suitable values from the range given in Spurlock (1995) were used, determined the magnitude of the effect of temperature on sorption and with a less negative value, a smaller effect would have been observed. As the binding mechanisms are very complex in reality and probably vary over time, it would be necessary to conduct specific experiments to obtain more specific parameters, which is not feasible for a general study such as this. Nevertheless, these results should give some indications of trends for a wide range of pesticide-soil combinations, which can be useful to discuss uncertainty in the modelling of pesticide leaching under climate change.

The results in this thesis are specific to pesticide leaching to surface water via tile drains and to groundwater and might not hold for other transport pathways (e.g. surface runoff), as other factors might dominate the losses than those analysed here. For paper III, the aggregated results (predicting total herbicide concentrations) are specific to the climate and climate change signals, the distribution of soil types, crops and the herbicides included in the study and are thus not easily transferable to other regions. Including all the soils of the GSS region in the study would have probably only affected the results to a minor extent. The soils that were excluded were mainly finetextured (Figure 8) and would, therefore, be likely to contribute to leaching, but they contributed less than 3% of the total area, which might have overshadowed their overall impact at a regional scale. However, the fieldscale-results presented in Figure 15 may indicate general trends and could be transferred to other regions to guide mitigation measures, even if they have different climate conditions, soils, cropping and application patterns. For regions in Sweden with a larger proportion of heavy clay soils, the risk might even increase without any changes in land-use or pesticide usage, although these soils mostly pose a risk to surface waters via drainage, with the field site in Papers I and II being one example.

6 Conclusions

- Accounting for different sources of uncertainty reduces the risk of drawing overconfident conclusions (e.g. regarding the direction of change in pesticide losses in a future) and makes the assessment more robust.
- The relative importance of different sources of uncertainty depends on pesticide properties, application season and whether the focus is on absolute values or predicted changes. For changes in pesticide losses in the future compared to present conditions, the uncertainty in climate input dominated, which emphasized the need for ensemble modelling.
- The indirect effects of climate change need to be considered alongside the direct effects, as the predictions can be significantly affected: The area at risk of groundwater contamination in southern Sweden was only slightly affected by direct effects of climate change, but was projected to double due to changes in land-use and pesticide use (indirect effects) in a future climate.
- Currently vulnerable areas with medium to high clay contents might become even more vulnerable in the future as relative changes in leachate concentration were positively correlated with soil clay content.
- The key factors determining pesticide losses under climate change may differ between the field scale and larger scales.
- Implementation of strict regulations and improved mitigation measures will be required to protect current and future drinking water resources in a changing climate.
7 Implications and Future Research

This thesis has demonstrated what would happen if the likely increase in weed and pest pressures under future climate conditions in Sweden were mainly controlled by an increased use of pesticides: the area at risk of groundwater contamination would strongly increase. Despite the myriad uncertainties inherent in the modelling of pesticide leaching under climate change, there is enough evidence to claim that mitigation strategies to reduce risks of groundwater and surface water contamination are necessary to protect current and future drinking water resources.

7.1 Mitigation Measures to Reduce Pesticide Leaching Risks

Mitigation strategies for surface water contamination include measures that reduce spray drift, the implementation of surface runoff and erosion controls (Holvoet *et al.*, 2007) and the use of constructed (artificial) wetlands (Vymazal & Březinová, 2015; Gregoire *et al.*, 2009) to remove pesticides from agricultural drainage and runoff. Feasible mitigation measures for drainage and leaching pathways are reductions in pesticide application rates, product substitutions (see also Miraglia *et al.*, 2009) and changes in the timing of pesticide applications (Reichenberger *et al.*, 2007). Paper III suggests that product substitution may be highly effective, as the simulated total concentration in leachate was dominated by only a few substances. The low contribution of winter cereals to overall herbicide leaching risks could be an indicator that reductions in application dose can have significant effects on regional scale herbicides leaching risks, too.

Several management strategies that protect the crops but reduce pesticide use could be adopted: Adaptation in the farming system such as improved crop rotations (Balderacchi *et al.*, 2008) or inter-cropping; improvements of biological and mechanical plant protection methods in line with recent EUdirectives on integrated pest management practices; crop breeding and biotechnological methods, which produce crops that are resistant to pests (Phipps & Park, 2002); precision farming techniques or guided and targeted pest control with the help of (electronic) warning systems for farmers (Holvoet *et al.*, 2007). At regional scales, such measures could be most efficient if they are applied to the crops that were identified as major contributors to pesticide leaching risks, such as sugar beets and winter rape in the case of southern Sweden in a climate change perspective.

Regional scale modelling, as reported in this thesis, can be used to identify vulnerable areas, which could be used by regulatory authorities to restrict or permit the use of particular pesticides in certain areas (Balderacchi *et al.*, 2008) aiming at a reduction in the overall pesticide use in a region. It can further be used to guide monitoring and might help to distinguish point-sources from non-point sources (Balderacchi *et al.*, 2008) and thereby improve the targeted measures.

7.2 Future Research Topics

Many additional questions could be further developed and analysed in the field of climate change impacts on pesticide leaching. Here, I summarize some ideas including some of those that have already been discussed in this thesis.

Changes in precipitation patterns

One essential aspect is to analyse the effect of changes in precipitation patterns, i.e. changes in rainfall frequency and in extremes. As several authors have pointed out, the timing of precipitation events in relation to the application timing is an important factor for losses to surface water via tile-drains or surface runoff (McGrath *et al.*, 2010; Lewan *et al.*, 2009; Nolan *et al.*, 2008). Furthermore, climate studies suggest that the frequency of heavy rainfall events is increasing, especially of short-term heavy rainfall events (Kendon *et al.*, 2014); probably beyond what can be handled with the delta-change method applied in this thesis (Teutschbein & Seibert, 2013; Nikulin *et al.*, 2011). This would require identifying a suitable downscaling or bias correction method that accounts for such changes (e.g. Olsson *et al.*, 2012). As the uncertainty due to GCMs often overshadows the uncertainty related to, for instance, the downscaling methods (e.g. Dobler *et al.*, 2012), an ensemble of GCMs should be included in the analysis rather than testing different downscaling methods.

Field scale analysis with MACRO

With respect to paper I, it would be interesting to analyse the impact of accounting for temperature dependent sorption (and diffusion) on other soil

types. This would help to evaluate the importance of these processes at larger scales.

Furthermore in order to perform a complete uncertainty analysis at the field scale, a longer experiment with equally comprehensive measurements would be required. A minimum of two to three years of continuous measurements (or several periods with at least one year of continuous measurements) would be needed for a split-sample analysis (as e.g. discussed in Jarvis & Larsbo, 2012) for which one part of the measurements (at least one year) is used to calibrate the model (as in paper I & II) and the remaining measurements are used to validate the model.

Regional scale risk assessments (MACRO-SE)

MACRO-SE could be used for several interesting additional studies. One idea would be to do a similar study but for surface water contamination. This requires the implementation and testing of a surface runoff and erosion routine. This kind of study would also greatly benefit from suitably downscaled rainfall time series that account for changes in rainfall frequency and intensity as runoff is often generated in heavy rainfall events (Holvoet et al., 2007; Wauchope, 1978). An extension to such a study would be to combine the exposure assessment with ecotoxicological models or indicators (such as toxic units; see Bundschuh et al., 2014) to evaluate the ecological impacts of changes in climate (Kattwinkel et al., 2011; Noyes et al., 2009).

The risk of pesticide losses at any location depends on soil type, pesticide properties and pesticide use, but also on the climate. Thus, risk assessment can be improved by using high-resolution spatially-variable climate data, especially rainfall data. For projections into the future, the climate scenarios should account for the spatial correlations between climate variables.

A complete uncertainty analysis with MACRO-SE that includes the effects of the uncertainty in soil and pesticide properties (similar to Van den Berg et al., 2012) or due to PTFs (similar to Stenemo & Jarvis, 2007) would be interesting, but incredibly demanding of computer resources. An assessment of the effects of spatial variability of sorption and degradation processes (e.g. Ghafoor et al., 2013; 2011) would also be valuable. It could also be worthwhile to perform a more comprehensive sensitivity analysis that disentangles effects of climate change that were not considered here, such as changes in organic carbon content and crop development/application timing and evaluates further scenarios that account for mitigation strategies (e.g. substance substitution or halving of pesticide use).

8 Sammanfattning (Swedish Summary)

Klimatförändringar kommer sannolikt att medföra ökad temperatur och nederbörd i Sverige. Ett varmare och blötare klimat kommer att öka trycket av ogräs och skadegörare, vilket i sin tur kan innebära en ökad användning av kemiska bekämpningsmedel. Syftet med denna avhandling var att belysa hur klimatförändringar kan komma att påverka bekämpningsmedelsläckaget från svensk åkermark baserat på dagens (1970-1999) och framtidens (2070-2099) klimat. För att beräkna pesticidläckage via dräneringsvatten på fältskala användes en dynamisk simuleringmodell (MACRO) som beskriver nedbrytning och transport av pesticider i mark som funktion av klimat-data. Betydelsen av olika osäkerheterskällor för simulerade i beräkningskedjan pesticidkoncentrationer och förändringar i pesticidutlakning analyserades. För att även belysa betydelsen av indirekta effekter av klimatförändringar, dvs ändringar i areell fördelning av olika grödor och i pesticidanvändning, på herbicidläckaget till grundvatten, användes en regionaliserad modellversion (MACRO-SE).

Resultat från studierna på fältskala visade att valet av modellstruktur påverkade simulerade pesticidförluster, trots att parameterosäkerheten var stor. Parameterosäkerheten hade större betydelse för beräknade absolutvärden (pesticidförluster) än för beräknade relativa förändringar. Effekten av osäkerheter i klimatdata hade däremot större betydelse för beräknade förändringar i pesticidförluster (i dagens klimat jämfört med framtida klimat). Riktning och storlek i simulerade förändringar i pesticidförluster berodde på ett komplext samspel mellan pesticidegenskaper, tidpunkt för bekämpning och val av klimatscenario. På regional skala var emellertid de direkta effekterna av förändringar i klimatet marginell, medan de indirekta effekterna hade stor betydelse för beräknade pesticidförluster till grundvattnet. Förväntade klimatrelaterade förändringar i grödor och pesticidanvändning resulterade i en fördubbling av den areal inom vilken risken för kontaminering av grundvattnet överskred EU:s gränsvärd för dricksvatten. Slutsatser från denna studie är att (1) den relativa betydelsen av olika osäkerhetskällor beror både på pesticidegenskaper, spridningstidpunkt och om fokus ligger på absoluta pesticidförluster eller relativa förändringar av förlusterna, (2) osäkerheten i klimatscenario-data bör beaktas för att kunna göra robusta bedömningar (t ex genom s.k. "ensemble modelling") och (3) indirekta effekter av klimatförändringar bör beaktas i kombination med de direkta effekterna för att resultaten inte ska bli missvisande. Oavsett de stora osäkerheter som är en naturlig del av beräkningar baserat på olika typer av scenarier, understryker resultaten i denna avhandling behovet av effektiva åtgärder och strategier för att minimera risken för grund- och ytvattenkontaminering i en förändrad klimatsituation.

References

- Abbott, M., Bathurst, J., Cunge, J., O'Connell, P. & Rasmussen, J. (1986a). An introduction to the European Hydrological System—Systeme Hydrologique Europeen, "SHE", 1: History and philosophy of a physically-based, distributed modelling system. *Journal of Hydrology*, 87(1), 45-59.
- Abbott, M., Bathurst, J., Cunge, J., O'connell, P. & Rasmussen, J. (1986b). An introduction to the European Hydrological System—Systeme Hydrologique Europeen, "SHE", 2: Structure of a physically-based, distributed modelling system. *Journal of Hydrology*, 87(1), 61-77.
- Abrahamsen, P. & Hansen, S. (2000). Daisy: an open soil-crop-atmosphere system model. *Environmental Modelling & Software*, 15(3), 313-330.
- Ahmadi, M., Records, R. & Arabi, M. (2014). Impact of climate change on diffuse pollutant fluxes at the watershed scale. *Hydrological Processes*, 28(4), 1962-1972.
- Alletto, L., Coquet, Y., Benoit, P., Heddadj, D. & Barriuso, E. (2010). Tillage management effects on pesticide fate in soils. A review. Agronomy for Sustainable Development, 30(2), 367-400.
- Anandhi, A., Frei, A., Pierson, D.C., Schneiderman, E.M., Zion, M.S., Lounsbury, D. & Matonse, A.H. (2011). Examination of change factor methodologies for climate change impact assessment. *Water Resources Research*, 47(3).
- Andréasson, J., Bergström, S., Carlsson, B., Graham, L.P. & Lindström, G. (2004). Hydrological change: Climate change impact simulations for Sweden. *Ambio*, 33, 228-234.
- Arheimer, B., Andréasson, J., Fogelberg, S., Johnsson, H., Pers, C.B. & Persson, K. (2005). Climate change impact on water quality: model results from southern Sweden. *Ambio*, 34, 559-566.
- Bailey, S.W. (2004). Climate change and decreasing herbicide persistence. Pest Management Science, 60(2), 158-162.
- Balderacchi, M., Benoit, P., Cambier, P., Eklo, O.M., Gargini, A., Gemitzi, A., Gurel, M., Kløve, B., Nakic, Z. & Predaa, E. (2013). Groundwater pollution and quality monitoring approaches at the European level. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology*, 43(4), 323-408.

- Balderacchi, M., Guardo, A.D., Vischetti, C. & Trevisan, M. (2008). The effect of crop rotation on pesticide leaching in a regional pesticide risk assessment. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 42(21), 8000-8006.
- Beernaerts, S., Debongnie, P., Gérard, M., Barthelemy, J.-P., Copin, A., Guns, M. & Pussemier, L. (2005). Evaluation of crop-protection-product losses into surface waters with the SEPTWA system. *International Journal of Environmental Analytical Chemistry*, 85(1), 41-50.
- Bengtsson, L. (2010). The global atmospheric water cycle. *Environmental Research Letters*, 5, 025002.
- Beulke, S., Boxall, A.B.A., Brown, C.D., Thomas, M. & Falloon, P. (2007). Impacts of climate change on pesticide transport to groundwater and surface water. In: *Proceedings of the XIII Symposium Pesticide Chemistry* - *Environmental Fate and Ecological Effects*. Del Re, A.A.M., Capri, E., Fraoulis, G. & Trevisan, M. (eds), 444-451.
- Beulke, S., Brown, C.D., Fryer, C.J. & Walker, A. (2002). Lysimeter study to investigate the effect of rainfall patterns on leaching of isoproturon. *Pest Management Science*, 58(1), 45-53.
- Beven, K. (2006). A manifesto for the equifinality thesis. *Journal of Hydrology*, 320(1-2), 18-36.
- Beven, K. & Binley, A. (1992). The future of distributed models: Model calibration and uncertainty prediction. *Hydrological Processes*, 6, 279-298.
- Beven, K.J., Smith, P.J. & Freer, J.E. (2008). So just why would a modeller choose to be incoherent? Journal of Hydrology, 354(1-4), 15-32.
- Bloomfield, J.P., Williams, R.J., Gooddy, D.C., Cape, J.N. & Guha, P. (2006). Impacts of climate change on the fate and behaviour of pesticides in surface and groundwater--a UK perspective. *Science of the Total Environment*, 369(1-3), 163-177.
- Boesten, J.J.T.I. (2000). Modeller subjectivity in estimating pesticide parameters for leaching models using the same laboratory data set. *Agricultural Water Management*, 44(1-3), 389-409.
- Boesten, J.J.T.I. & Van der Linden, A.M.A. (1991). Modeling the influence of sorption and transformation on pesticide leaching and persistence. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 20(2), 425-435.
- Borah, D. & Bera, M. (2003). Watershed-scale hydrologic and nonpoint-source pollution models: Review of mathematical bases. *Transactions of the* ASAE, 46(6), 1553-1566.
- Bouma, J. (1989). Using soil survey data for quantitative land evaluation. In: *Advances in Soil Science*. Springer, 177-213.
- Boxall, A., Hardy, A., Beulke, S., Boucard, T., Burgin, L., Falloon, P.D., Haygarth, P.M., Hutchinson, T., Kovats, R.S. & Leonardi, G. (2008). Impacts of climate change on indirect human exposure to pathogens and chemicals from agriculture. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 117(4), 508-514.
- Brown, C., Rose, D., Syers, J. & Hodgkinson, R. (1995). Effects of preferential flow upon the movement of pesticides and a conservative tracer from a heavy clay soil. In: *British Crop Protection Council Symposium Proceedings*. [BCPC MONOGR.]

- Brown, C.D. & van Beinum, W. (2009). Pesticide transport via sub-surface drains in Europe. *Environmental Pollution*, 157(12), 3314-3324.
- Bundschuh, M., Goedkoop, W. & Kreuger, J. (2014). Evaluation of pesticide monitoring strategies in agricultural streams based on the toxic-unit concept—Experiences from long-term measurements. *Science of the Total Environment*, 484, 84-91.
- Capel, P.D., Larson, S.J. & Winterstein, T.A. (2001). The behaviour of 39 pesticides in surface waters as a function of scale. *Hydrological Processes*, 15, 1251-1269.
- Centofanti, T., Hollis, J.M., Blenkinsop, S., Fowler, H.J., Truckell, I., Dubus, I.G. & Reichenberger, S. (2008). Development of agro-environmental scenarios to support pesticide risk assessment in Europe. *Science of the Total Environment*, 407(1), 574-588.
- CESM (2015). http://www2.cesm.ucar.edu/about [2015-03-02].
- Chen, C.-C. & McCarl, B.A. (2001). An investigation of the relationship between pesticide usage and climate change. *Climatic Change*, 50(4), 475-487.
- Chen, J., Brissette, F.P. & Leconte, R. (2011). Uncertainty of downscaling method in quantifying the impact of climate change on hydrology. *Journal of Hydrology*, 401(3-4), 190-202.
- Cheviron, B. & Coquet, Y. (2009). Sensitivity analysis of transient-MIM HYDRUS-1D: Case study related to pesticide fate in soils. *Vadose Zone Journal*, 8(4), 1064-1079.
- Christensen, J.H., Boberg, F., Christensen, O.B. & Lucas-Picher, P. (2008). On the need for bias correction of regional climate change projections of temperature and precipitation. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 35(20).
- Christensen, J.H. & Christensen, O.B. (2003). Climate modelling: Severe summertime flooding in Europe. *Nature*, 421(6925), 805-806.
- Christiansen, J.S., Thorsen, M., Clausen, T., Hansen, S. & Refsgaard, J.C. (2004). Modelling of macropore flow and transport processes at catchment scale. *Journal of Hydrology*, 299(1), 136-158.
- CKB (2014). http://www.slu.se/ckb.
- Coquet, Y., Hadjar, D., Gilliot, J.M., Charnay, M.P., Moeys, J., Dufour, A. & Beaudoin, N. (2005). Biases in the spatial estimation of pesticide loss to groundwater. *Agronomy for Sustainable Development*, 25(4), 465-472.
- Corwin, D.L. & Wagenet, R. (1996). Applications of GIS to the modeling of nonpoint source pollutants in the vadose zone: A conference overview. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 25(3), 403-411.
- Curry, J.A. & Webster, P.J. (2011). Climate science and the uncertainty monster. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society, 92(12), 1667-1682.
- Davidson, E.A. & Janssens, I.A. (2006). Temperature sensitivity of soil carbon decomposition and feedbacks to climate change. *Nature*, 440(7081), 165-173.
- Delaplane, K.S. (1996). Pesticide Usage in the United States: History, Benefits, Risks, and Trends. http://ipm.ncsu.edu/safety/factsheets/pestuse.pdf.
- Delcour, I., Spanoghe, P. & Uyttendaele, M. (2015). Literature review: Impact of climate change on pesticide use. *Food Research International*, 68(0), 7-15.

- Delpla, I., Jung, A.-V., Baures, E., Clement, M. & Thomas, O. (2009). Impacts of climate change on surface water quality in relation to drinking water production. *Environment International*, 35(8), 1225-1233.
- Déqué, M., Rowell, D., Lüthi, D., Giorgi, F., Christensen, J., Rockel, B., Jacob, D., Kjellström, E., De Castro, M. & van den Hurk, B. (2007). An intercomparison of regional climate simulations for Europe: assessing uncertainties in model projections. *Climatic Change*, 81(1), 53-70.
- Déqué, M. & Somot, S. (2010). Weighted frequency distributions express modelling uncertainties in the ENSEMBLES regional climate experiments. *Climate Research*, 44(2).
- Dobler, C., Hagemann, S., Wilby, R.L. & Stötter, J. (2012). Quantifying different sources of uncertainty in hydrological projections in an Alpine watershed. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 16, 4343-4360.
- Dubus, I.G. & Brown, C.D. (2002). Sensitivity and first-step uncertainty analyses for the preferential flow model MACRO. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 31(1), 227-240.
- Dubus, I.G., Brown, C.D. & Beulke, S. (2003a). Sensitivity analyses for four pesticide leaching models. *Pest Management Science*, 59(9), 962-982.
- Dubus, I.G., Brown, C.D. & Beulke, S. (2003b). Sources of uncertainty in pesticide fate modelling. *Science of the Total Environment*, 317(1-3), 53-72.
- Earl, R. (1997). Prediction of trafficability and workability from soil moisture deficit. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 40, 155-168.
- Eckersten, H., Andersson, L., Holstein, F., Mannerstedt Fogelfors, B., Lewan, E., Sigvald, R., Torssel, B. & Karlsson, S. (2008a). Bedömningar av klimatforändringars effekter på växtproduktion inom jordbruket i Sverige (An evaluation of climate change effects on crop production in Sweden). *Report from the Department of Crop Production Ecology (VPE)*, No. 6, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala, Sweden.
- Eckersten, H., Herrmann, A., Kornher, A., Halling, M., Sindhøj, E. & Lewan, E. (2012). Predicting silage maize yield and quality in Sweden as influenced by climate change and variability. *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica*, *Section B-Soil & Plant Science*, 62(2), 151-165.
- Eckersten, H., Karlsson, S. & Torssel, B. (2008b). Climate change and agricultural land use in Sweden: A literature review. *Report from the Department of Crop Production Ecology (VPE)*, No. 7, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala, Sweden.
- Fenner, K., Lanz, V.A., Scheringer, M. & Borsuk, M.E. (2007). Relating atrazine degradation rate in soil to environmental conditions: Implications for global fate modeling. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 41(8), 2840-2846.
- Flury, M. (1996). Experimental Evidence of Transport of Pesticides through Field Soils—A Review. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 25, 25-45.
- FOCUS (2000). FOCUS groundwater scenarios in the EU review of active substances. *Report of the FOCUS Groundwater Scenario Workgroup*. EC Document Reference Sanco/321/2000 rev.2, 202 pp.

- Fowler, H.J., Blenkisop, S. & Tebaldi, C. (2007). Review Linking climate change modelling to impacts studies: recent advances in downscaling techniques for hydrological modelling. International *Journal of Climatology*, 27, 1547-1578.
- Furevik, T., Bentsen, M., Drange, H., Kindem, I., Kvamstø, N.G. & Sorteberg, A. (2003). Description and evaluation of the Bergen climate model: ARPEGE coupled with MICOM. *Climate Dynamics*, 21(1), 27-51.
- Gerke, H.H. & Van Genuchten, M.T. (1996). Macroscopic representation of structural geometry for simulating water and solute movement in dualporosity media. Advances in Water Resources, 19(6), 343-357.
- Ghafoor, A., Jarvis, N.J. & Stenström, J. (2013). Modelling pesticide sorption in the surface and subsurface soils of an agricultural catchment. *Pest Management Science*, 69(8), 919-929.
- Ghafoor, A., Moeys, J., Stenström, J., Tranter, G. & Jarvis, N.J. (2011). Modeling Spatial Variation in Microbial Degradation of Pesticides in Soil. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 45(15), 6411-6419.
- Giorgi, F. (2005). Climate Change Prediction. Climatic Change, 73, 239-265.
- Gish, T.J., Isensee, A.R., Nash, R.G. & Helling, C.S. (1991). Impact of pesticides on shallow groundwater quality. *Transactions of the ASAE*, 34(4), 1745-1753.
- Godfray, H.C.J., Beddington, J.R., Crute, I.R., Haddad, L., Lawrence, D., Muir, J.F., Pretty, J., Robinson, S., Thomas, S.M. & Toulmin, C. (2010). Food security: the challenge of feeding 9 billion people. *Science*, 327(5967), 812-818.
- Graham, L.P., Andréasson, J. & Carlsson, B. (2007a). Assessing climate change impacts on hydrology from an ensemble of regional climate models, model scales and linking methods - a case study on the Lule River basin. *Climatic Change*, 81, 293-307.
- Graham, L.P., Hagemann, S., Jaun, S. & Beniston, M. (2007b). On interpreting hydrological change from regional climate models. *Climatic Change*, 81, 97-122.
- Gregoire, C., Elsaesser, D., Huguenot, D., Lange, J., Lebeau, T., Merli, A., Mose, R., Passeport, E., Payraudeau, S., Schuetz, T., Schulz, R., Tapia-Padilla, G., Tournebize, J., Trevisan, M. & Wanko, A. (2009). Mitigation of Agricultural Nonpoint-Source Pesticide Pollution in Artificial Wetland Ecosystems – A Review. In: *Climate Change, Intercropping, Pest Control* and Beneficial Microorganisms. (Sustainable Agriculture Reviews, 2). Lichtfouse, E. (ed). Springer Netherlands, 293-338.
- Harrison, P.A. & Butterfield, R.E. (1996). Effects of climate change on Europewide winter wheat and sunflower productivity. *Climate Research*, 7, 225-241.
- Hawkins, E. & Sutton, R. (2009). The potential to narrow uncertainty in regional climate predictions. *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*, 90(8), 1095-1107.

- Hay, L.E., Wilby, R.L. & Leavesley, G.H. (2000). A comparison of delta change and downscaled GCM scenarios for three mountainous basins in the United States. *Journal of the Astronomical Society of Western Australia*, 36, 387-397.
- Hayduk, W. & Laudie, H. (1974). Prediction of diffusion coefficients for nonelectrolytes in dilute aqueous solutions. *AIChE Journal*, 20, 611-615.
- Henriksen, H.J., Rosenbom, A., van der Keur, P., Olesen, J.E., Jörgensen, L.J., Kjaer, J., Sonnenborg, T. & Christensen, O.B. (2013). Prediction of climatic impacts on pesticide leaching to the aquatic environments. *Pesticide research no. 143*. 167 pp.
- Herbst, M., Fialkiewicz, W., Chen, T., Pütz, T., Thiéry, D., Mouvet, C., Vachaud, G. & Vereecken, H. (2005). Intercomparison of flow and transport models applied to vertical drainage in cropped lysimeters. *Vadose Zone Journal*, 4(2), 240-254.
- Heuvelink, G., Burgers, S., Tiktak, A. & Van Den Berg, F. (2010). Uncertainty and stochastic sensitivity analysis of the GeoPEARL pesticide leaching model. *Geoderma*, 155(3), 186-192.
- Hillocks, R. (2012). Farming with fewer pesticides: EU pesticide review and resulting challenges for UK agriculture. *Crop Protection*, 31(1), 85-93.
- Holvoet, K.M.A., Seuntjens, P. & Vanrolleghem, P.A. (2007). Monitoring and modeling pesticide fate in surface waters at the catchment scale. *Ecological Modelling*, 209, 53-64.
- Honti, M., Scheidegger, A. & Stamm, C. (2014). The importance of hydrological uncertainty assessment methods in climate change impact studies. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 18(8), 3301-3317.
- Hossard, L., Philipbert, A., Bertrand, M., Colnenne-David, C., Debaeke, P., Munier-Jolain, N., H, J.M., Richard, G. & Makowski, D. (2014). Effects of halving pesticide use on wheat production. *Scientific Reports*, 4(4405).
- IPCC (2001). Climate Change 2001: the Scientific Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Third Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA.
- IPCC (2012). Managing the Risks of Extreme Events and Disasters to Advance Climate Change Adaptation. A Special Report of Working Groups I and II of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA.
- IPCC (2013a). Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA.
- IPCC (2013b). Summary for Policymakers. In: Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.
- IPCC (2015). http://www.ipcc-data.org/guidelines/pages/definitions.html [2015-02-13].
- IPSL (2015). http://igcmg.ipsl.jussieu.fr/Doc/IPSLCM4/ [2015-03-02].

- Jarvis, N. (2001). Modelling pesticide environmental fate: process understanding and knowledge gaps. In: *Pesticide behaviour in soils and water*. *Proceedings of a Symposium organized by the British Crop Protection Council*, Brighton, UK, 13-15 November 2001. British Crop Protection Council, 11-18.
- Jarvis, N., Koestel, J., Messing, I., Moeys, J. & Lindahl, A. (2013). Influence of soil, land use and climatic factors on the hydraulic conductivity of soil. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 17(12), 5185-5195.
- Jarvis, N. & Larsbo, M. (2012). MACRO (V5.2): Model use, calibration, and validation. *Transactions of the ASABE*, 55(4), 1413-1423.
- Jarvis, N., Lindahl, A., Messing, I., Stenemo, F., Hollis, J., Reichenberger, S. & Dubus, I.G. (2007). Algorithm to completely parameterise MACRO from basic soil property data. *Report DL21 of the FP6 EU-funded FOOTPRINT* project [www.eu-footprint.org].
- Jarvis, N.J. (1989). A simple empirical model of root water uptake. *Journal of Hydrology*, 107(1-4), 57-72.
- Jarvis, N.J. (2007). A review of non-equilibrium water flow and solute transport in soil macropores: principles, controlling factors and consequences for water quality. *European Journal of Soil Science*, 58(3), 523-546.
- Johnson, A.C., Haria, A.H., Bhardwaj, C.L., Williams, R.J. & Walker, A. (1996). Preferential Flow Pathways and Their Capacity to Transport Isoproturon in a Structured Clay Soil. *Pesticide Science*, 48(3), 225-237.
- Jones, C., McConnell, C., Coleman, K., Cox, P., Falloon, P., Jenkinson, D. & Powlson, D. (2005). Global climate change and soil carbon stocks; predictions from two contrasting models for the turnover of organic carbon in soil. *Global Change Biology*, 11(1), 154-166.
- Jørgensen, P.R., McKay, L.D. & Spliid, N.H. (1998). Evaluation of chloride and pesticide transport in a fractured clayey till using large undisturbed columns and numerical modeling. *Water Resources Research*, 34(4), 539-553.
- Karlsson, L.-O.T., Andrén, O., Kätterer, T. & Mattsson, L. (2003). Management effects on topsoil carbon and nitrogen in Swedish long-term field experiments—budget calculations with and without humus pool dynamics. *European Journal of Agronomy*, 20(1), 137-147.
- Kattwinkel, M., Kühne, J.-V., Foit, K. & Liess, M. (2011). Climate change, agricultural insecticide exposure, and risk for freshwater communities. *Ecological Applications*, 21(6), 2068-2081.
- Kendon, E.J., Roberts, N.M., Fowler, H.J., Roberts, M.J., Chan, S.C. & Senior, C.A. (2014). Heavier summer downpours with climate change revealed by weather forecast resolution model. *Nature Climate Change*, 4, 570-576.
- Kilsby, C.G., Jones, P.D., Burton, A., Ford, A.C., Fowler, H.J., Harpham C, James, P., Smith, A. & Wilby, R.L. (2007). A daily weather generator for use in climate change studies. *Environmental Modelling and Software*, 22, 1705-1719.

- Kjellström, E., Abrahamsson, R., Boberg, P., Jernbäcker, E. & Karlberg, M. (2014). Uppdatering av det klimatvetenskapliga kunskapsläget. *Klimatologi*, 9. Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute, Norrköping, Sweden.
- Kjellström, E., Nikulin, G., Hansson, U., Strandberg, G. & Ullerstig, A. (2011). 21st century changes in the European climate: uncertainties derived from an ensemble of regional climate model simulations. *Tellus A*, 63(1), 24-40.
- Kladivko, E.J., Brown, L.C. & Baker, J.L. (2001). Pesticide transport to subsurface tile drains in humid regions of North America. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology*, 31(1), 1-62.
- Koleva, N.G. & Schneider, U.A. (2009). The impact of climate change on the external cost of pesticide applications in US agriculture. *International Journal of Agricultural Sustainability*, 7(3), pp. 203-216.
- Koleva, N.G., Schneider, U.A. & Tol, R.S. (2010). The impact of weather variability and climate change on pesticides application in the US-An empirical investigation. *International Journal of Ecological Economics and Statistics*, 18(S10), 64-81.
- Kong, D., MacLeod, M., Li, Z. & Cousins, I.T. (2013). Effects of input uncertainty and variability on the modelled environmental fate of organic pollutants under global climate change scenarios. *Chemosphere*, 93(9), 2086-2093.
- Korson, L., Drosthan, W. & Millero, F.J. (1969). Viscosity of water at various temperatures. *Journal of Physical Chemistry*, 73(1), 34-39.
- Kreuger, J. (1998). Pesticides in stream water within an agricultural catchment in southern Sweden, 1990-1996. *Science of the Total Environment*, 216(3), 227-251.
- Kreuger, J. & Törnqvist, L. (1998). Multiple regression analysis of pesticide occurrence in streamflow related to pesticide properties and quantities applied. *Chemosphere*, 37(2), 189-207.
- Köhne, J.M., Köhne, S. & Šimůnek, J. (2009). A review of model applications for structured soils: b) Pesticide transport. *Journal of Contaminant Hydrology*, 104(1), 36-60.
- Larsbo, M. (2005). An improved dual-permeability model of solute transport in structured soils Model Development and Parameter Identification in Laboratory and Field Experiments. Diss. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala, Sweden.
- Larsbo, M. & Jarvis, N.J. (2003). MACRO 5.0. A model of water flow and solute transport in macroporous soil. Technical description. *Emergo* 2003:6. Swedish University of Agricultural Science, Dept. of Soil Science, Div. of Environmental Physics, Uppsala.
- Larsbo, M. & Jarvis, N.J. (2005). Simulating solute transport in a structured field soil: Uncertainty in parameter identification and predictions. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 34, 621-634.
- Larsbo, M., Lapen, D.R., Topp, E., Metcalfe, C., Abbaspour, K.C. & Fenner, K. (2009a). Simulation of Pharmaceutical and Personal Care Product Transport to Tile Drains after Biosolids Application. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 38(3), 1274-1285.

- Larsbo, M., Roulier, S., Stenemo, F., Kasteel, R. & Jarvis, N.J. (2005). An improved dual-permeability model of water flow and solute transport in the vadose zone. *Vadose Zone Journal*, 4, 398-406.
- Larsbo, M., Stenström, J., Etana, A., Börjesson, E. & Jarvis, N.J. (2009b). Herbicide sorption, degradation, and leaching in three Swedish soils under long-term conventional and reduced tillage. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 105(2), 200-208.
- Larsson, M., Graaf, S., Nanos, T., Boye, K. & Kreuger, J. (2013). Undersökning av växtskyddsmedel i privata dricksvattenbrunnar från ett jordbruksområde i södra Halland. *CKB rapport*, 2. Centre for Chemical Pesticides, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala, Sweden.
- Larsson, M.H. & Jarvis, N.J. (1999). Evaluation of a dual-porosity model to predict field-scale solute transport in a macroporous soil. *Journal of Hydrology*, 215(1-4), 153-171.
- Larsson, M.H. & Jarvis, N.J. (2000). Quantifying interactions between compound properties and macropore flow effects on pesticide leaching. *Pest Management Science*, 56(2), 133-141.
- Ledbetter, R., Prudhomme, C. & Arnell, N. (2012). A method for incorporating climate variability in climate change impact assessments: Sensitivity of river flows in the Eden catchment to precipitation scenarios. *Climatic Change*, 113(3-4), 803-823.
- Lewan, E., Kreuger, J. & Jarvis, N.J. (2009). Implications of precipitation patterns and antecedent soil water content for leaching of pesticides from arable land. *Agricultural Water Management*, 96(11), 1633-1640.
- Lind, P. & Kjellström, E. (2008). Temperature and precipitation changes in Sweden; a wide range of model-based projections for the 21st century. *Reports Meteorology and Climatology*, 113. Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute, Norrköping, Sweden.
- Loague, K. (1991). The impact of land use on estimates of pesticide leaching potential: Assessments and uncertainties. *Journal of Contaminant Hydrology*, 8(2), 157-175.
- Loague, K., Blanke, J.S., Mills, M.B., Diaz-Diaz, R. & Corwin, D.L. (2012). Data related uncertainty in near-surface vulnerability assessments for agrochemicals in the San Joaquin Valley. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 41(5), 1427-1436.
- Loague, K., Green, R.E., Giambelluca, T.W., Liang, T.C. & Yost, R.S. (1990). Impact of uncertainty in soil, climatic, and chemical information in a pesticide leaching assessment. *Journal of Contaminant Hydrology*, 5(2), 171-194.
- Lugato, E., Agos, P.P., Bampa, F., Jones, A. & Montanarella, L. (2014). A new baseline of organic carbon stock in European agricultural soils using a modelling approach. *Global Change Biology*, 20, 313-326.

Länsstyrelsen (2015).

http://www.lansstyrelsen.se/skane/Sv/nyheter/2012/Pages/lansstyrelsen-skane-backar-inte-fran-nollvision.aspx [2015-03-02].

- Löfgren, H. & Tollebäck, E. (2012). Bekämpningsmedel i hallänska yt- och grundvatten. *Meddelande*, 8. Länsstyrelsen i Hallands län, Halmstad, Sweden.
- Malaguerra, F., Albrechtsen, H.-J., Thorling, L. & Binning, P.J. (2012). Pesticides in water supply wells in Zealand, Denmark: A statistical analysis. *Science* of the Total Environment, 414(0), 433-444.
- Malaj, E., von der Ohe, P.C., Grote, M., Kühne, R., Mondy, C.P., Usseglio-Polatera, P., Brack, W. & Schäfer, R.B. (2014). Organic chemicals jeopardize the health of freshwater ecosystems on the continental scale. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 111, 9549-9554.
- Mantovan, P. & Todini, E. (2006). Hydrological forecasting uncertainty assessment: Incoherence of the GLUE methodology. *Journal of Hydrology*, 330(1), 368-381.
- Maraun, D. (2012). Nonstationarities of regional climate model biases in European seasonal mean temperature and precipitation sums. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 39(6).
- McGrath, G., Hinz, C. & Sivapalan, M. (2010). Assessing the impact of regional rainfall variability on rapid pesticide leaching potential. *Journal of Contaminant Hydrology*, 113(1–4), 56-65.
- MetOffice (2015). http://www.metoffice.gov.uk/research/modellingsystems/unified-model/climate-models/hadcm3 [2015-03-02].
- Miraglia, M., Marvin, H.J.P., Kleter, G.A., Battilani, P., Brera, C., Coni, E., Cubadda, F., Croci, L., Santis, B.D., Dekkers, S., Filippi, L., Hutjes, R.W.A., Noordam, M.Y., Pisante, M., Piva, G., Prandini, A., Toti, L., van den Born, G.J. & Vespermann, A. (2009). Climate change and food safety: An emerging issue with special focus on Europe. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 47(5), 1009-1021.
- Moeys, J., Larsbo, M., Bergström, L., Brown, C.D., Coquet, Y. & Jarvis, N.J. (2012). Functional test of pedotransfer functions to predict water flow and solute transport with the dual-permeability model MACRO. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 16, 2069-2083.
- Moradi, A., Abbaspour, K.C. & Afyuni, M. (2005). Modelling field-scale cadmium transport below the root zone of a sewage sludge amended soil in an arid region in Central Iran. *Journal of Contaminant Hydrology*, 79(3–4), 187-206.
- Moriasi, D., Wilson, B., Douglas-Mankin, K., Arnold, J. & Gowda, P. (2012). Hydrologic and water quality models: Use, calibration, and validation. *Transactions of the ASABE*, 55(4), 1241-1247.
- Moschet, C., Wittmer, I., Simovic, J., Junghans, M., Piazzoli, A., Singer, H., Stamm, C., Leu, C. & Hollender, J. (2014). How a Complete Pesticide Screening Changes the Assessment of Surface Water Quality. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 48, 5423-5432.
- Moss, R.H., Edmonds, J.A., Hibbard, K.A., Manning, M.R., Rose, S.K., Van Vuuren, D.P., Carter, T.R., Emori, S., Kainuma, M. & Kram, T. (2010). The next generation of scenarios for climate change research and assessment. *Nature*, 463(7282), 747-756.

- Mote, P., Brekke, L., Duffy, P.B. & Maurer, E. (2011). Guidelines for constructing climate scenarios. EOS - EOS, Transactions, American Geophysical Union, 92(31), 257-258.
- MPI-MET (2015). www.mpimet.mpg.de/en/science/models/echam/echam5.html [2015-03-02].
- Nakićenović, N. & Swart, R. (2000). Special report on emissions scenarios. In: A Special Report of Working Group III of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press. Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.
- Nash, J.E. & Sutcliffe, J.V. (1970). River flow forecasting through conceptual models part I - A discussion of principles. *Journal of Hydrology*, 10(3), 282-290.
- Nikulin, G., Kjellström, E., Hansson, U., Strandberg, G. & Ullerstig, A. (2011). Evaluation and future projections of temperature, precipitation and wind extremes over Europe in an ensemble of regional climate simulations. *Tellus A*, 63(1), 41-55.
- Nolan, B.T., Dubus, I.G., Surdyk, N., Fowler, H.J., Burton, A., Hollis, J.M., Reichenberger, S. & Jarvis, N.J. (2008). Identification of key climatic factors regulating the transport of pesticides in leaching and to tile drains. *Pest Management Science*, 64(9), 933-944.
- Noyes, P.D., McElwee, M.K., Miller, H.D., Clark, B.W., Van Tiem, L.A., Walcott, K.C., Erwin, K.N. & Levin, E.D. (2009). The toxicology of climate change: Environmental contaminants in a warming world. *Environment International*, 35, 971-986.
- Olesen, J.E., Børgesen, C.D., Elsgaard, L., Palosuo, T., Rötter, R., Skjelvåg, A., Peltonen-Sainio, P., Börjesson, T., Trnka, M. & Ewert, F. (2012). Changes in time of sowing, flowering and maturity of cereals in Europe under climate change. *Food Additives & Contaminants: Part A*, 29(10), 1527-1542.
- Olesen, J.E., Trnka, M., Kersebaum, K.C., Skjelvåg, A.O., Seguin, B., Peltonen-Sainio, P., Rossi, F., Kozyra, J. & Micale, F. (2011). Impacts and adaptation of European crop production systems to climate change. *European Journal of Agronomy*, 34(2), 96-112.
- Olsson, J., Berggren, K., Olofsson, M. & Viklander, M. (2009). Applying climate model precipitation scenarios for urban hydrological assessment: A case study in Kalmar City, Sweden. *Atmospheric Research*, 92(3), 364-375.
- Olsson, J., Gidhagen, L., Gamerith, V., Gruber, G., Hoppe, H. & Kutschera, P. (2012). Downscaling of short-term precipitation from Regional Climate Models for sustainable urban planning. *Sustainability*, 4(5), 866-887.
- Paraíba, L.C., Cerdeira, A.L., da Silva, E.F., Martins, J.S. & da Costa Coutinho, H.L. (2003). Evaluation of soil temperature effect on herbicide leaching potential into groundwater in the Brazilian Cerrado. *Chemosphere*, 53(9), 1087-1095.
- Patterson, D.T., Westbrook, J.K., Joyce, R.J.V., Lingren, P.D. & Rogasik, J. (1999). Weeds, insects, and diseases. *Climatic Change*, 43(4), 711-727.

- Phipps, R. & Park, J. (2002). Environmental benefits of genetically modified crops: global and European perspectives on their ability to reduce pesticide use. *Journal of Animal and Feed Sciences*, 11(1), 1-18.
- PPDB (2013). The Pesticide Properties DataBase (PPDB) developed by the Agriculture & Environment Research Unit (AERU). University of Hertfordshire.
- Prudhomme, C., Wilby, R.L., Crooks, S., Kay, A.L. & Reynard, N.S. (2010). Scenario-neutral approach to climate change impact studies: Application to flood risk. *Journal of Hydrology*, 390(3-4), 198-209.
- Quilbé, R., Rousseau, A.N., Lafrance, P., Leclerc, J. & Amrani, M. (2006). Selecting a pesticide fate model at the watershed scale using a multicriteria analysis. *Water quality research journal of Canada*, 41(3), 283-295.
- Rao, P., Hornsby, A. & Jesup, R. (1985). Indices for ranking the potential for pesticide contamination of groundwater. In: *Proceedings Soil and Crop Science Society of Florida*. 8 pp.
- Refsgaard, J.C., Arnbjerg-Nielsen, K., Drews, M., Halsnæs, K., Jeppesen, E., Madsen, H., Markandya, A., Olesen, J.E, Porter, J.R. & Christensen, J.H. (2013). The role of uncertainty in climate change adaptation strategies – A Danish water management example. *Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change*, 18(3), 337-359.
- Refsgaard, J.C., van der Sluijs, J.P., Højberg, A.L. & Vanrolleghem, P.A. (2007). Uncertainty in the environmental modelling process–a framework and guidance. *Environmental Modelling & Software*, 22(11), 1543-1556.
- Reichenberger, S., Bach, M., Skitschak, A. & Frede, H.-G. (2007). Mitigation strategies to reduce pesticide inputs into ground-and surface water and their effectiveness; A review. *Science of the Total Environment*, 384(1), 1-35.
- Samuelsson, P., Jones, C.G., Willén, U., Ullerstig, A., Gollvik, S., Hansson, U., Jansson, C., Kjellström, E., Nikulin, G. & Wyser, K. (2011). The Rossby Centre Regional Climate model RCA3: model description and performance. *Tellus A*, 63, 4-23.
- SCB (2011). Växtskyddsmedel i jord- och tradgårdsbruket 2010 Användning i grödor (Statistics Sweden: Plant protection products in agriculture and horticulture Use in crops). *MI 31 SM 1101*.
- SCB (2013a). Markanvändningen i Sverige, sjätte utgåvan (Statistics Sweden, Land use in Sweden, sixth edition).
- SCB (2013b). Växtskyddsmedel i jordbruket 2012 Beräknat antal hektardoser (Statistics Sweden: Plant protection products in Swedish agriculture. Number of hectare-doses in 2012). MI 31 SM 1301.
- Schiedek, D., Sundelin, B., Readman, J.W. & Macdonald, R.W. (2007). Interactions between climate change and contaminants. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 54(12), 1845-1856.

- Schneider, U.A., Havlík, P., Schmid, E., Valin, H., Mosnier, A., Obersteiner, M., Böttcher, H., Skalský, R., Balkovič, J. & Sauer, T. (2011). Impacts of population growth, economic development, and technical change on global food production and consumption. *Agricultural Systems*, 104(2), 204-215.
- Semenov, M.A., Brooks, R.J., Barrow, E.M. & Richardson, C.W. (1998). Comparison of the WGEN and LARS-WG stochastic weather generators for diverse climates. *Climate Research*, 10(2), 95-107.
- Shipitalo, M., Edwards, W., Owens, L. & Dick, W. (1990). Initial storm effects on macropore transport of surface-applied chemicals in no-till soil. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 54(6), 1530-1536.
- Siimes, K. & Kämäri, J. (2003). A review of available pesticide leaching models: Selection of models for simulation of herbicide fate in Finnish sugar beet cultivation. *Boreal Environment Research*, 8(1), 31-51.
- Sinkevich, M.G., Walter, M.T., Lembo, A.J., Richards, B.K., Peranginangin, N., Aburime, S.A. & Steenhuis, T.S. (2005). A GIS-Based Ground Water Contamination Risk Assessment Tool for Pesticides. *Groundwater Monitoring & Remediation*, 25(4), 82-91.
- SJV (2014). Skörd av jordbruksväxter (Harvest of arable crops). Statistical Database of the Swedish Ministry of Agriculture.
- Smith, P., Beven, K.J. & Tawn, J.A. (2008). Informal likelihood measures in model assessment: Theoretic development and investigation. Advances in Water Resources, 31(8), 1087-1100.
- Sood, C. & Bhagat, R. (2005). Interfacing geographical information systems and pesticide models. *Current Science*, 89(8), 1362.
- Soutter, M. & Musy, A. (1998). Coupling 1D Monte-Carlo simulations and geostatistics to assess groundwater vulnerability to pesticide contamination on a regional scale. *Journal of Contaminant Hydrology*, 32(1), 25-39.
- Spurlock, F.C. (1995). Estimation of humic-based sorption enthalpies from nonlinear isotherm temperature dependence: Theoretical development and application to substituted phenylureas. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 24, 42-49.
- Stenemo, F. & Jarvis, N. (2007). Accounting for uncertainty in pedotransfer functions in vulnerability assessments of pesticide leaching to groundwater. *Pest Management Science*, 63(9), 867-875.
- Stenemo, F., Jørgensen, P.R. & Jarvis, N. (2005). Linking a one-dimensional pesticide fate model to a three-dimensional groundwater model to simulate pollution risks of shallow and deep groundwater underlying fractured till. *Journal of Contaminant Hydrology*, 79(1), 89-106.
- Stenemo, F., Ray, C., Yost, R. & Matsuda, S. (2007). A screening tool for vulnerability assessment of pesticide leaching to groundwater for the islands of Hawaii, USA. *Pest Management Science*, 63(4), 404-411.
- Tebaldi, C., Smith, R.L., Nychka, D. & Mearns, L.O. (2005). Quantifying uncertainty in projections of regional climate change: A Bayesian approach to the analysis of multi-model ensembles. *Journal of Climate*, 18, 1524-1540.

- ten Hulscher, T.E.M. & Cornelissen, G. (1996). Effect of temperature on sorption equilibrium and sorption kinetics of organic micropollutants a review. *Chemosphere*, 32(4), 609-626.
- Teutschbein, C. & Seibert, J. (2010). Regional climate models for hydrological impact studies at the catchment scale: A review of recent modeling strategies. *Geography Compass*, 4(7), 834-860.
- Teutschbein, C. & Seibert, J. (2012). Bias correction of regional climate model simulations for hydrological climate-change impact studies: Review and evaluation of different methods. *Journal of Hydrology*, 456-457, 12-29.
- Teutschbein, C. & Seibert, J. (2013). Is bias correction of regional climate model (RCM) simulations possible for non-stationary conditions? *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 17(12), 5061-5077.
- Tiktak, A. (2000). Application of pesticide leaching models to the Vredepeel dataset: II Pesticide fate. *Agricultural Water Management*, 44(1-3), 119-134.
- Tirado, M.C., Clarke, R., Jaykus, L.A., McQuatters-Gollop, A. & Frank, J.M. (2010). Climate change and food safety: A review. *Food Research International*, 43(7), 1745-1765.
- Trnka, M., Olesen, J.E., Kersebaum, K.C., Skjelvåg, A.O., Eitzinger, J., Seguin, B., Peltonen-Sainio, P., Rötter, R., Iglesias, A., Orlandini, S., Dubrovský, M., Hlavinka, P., Balek, J., Eckersten, H., Cloppet, E., Calanca, P., Gobin, A., Vučetić, V., Nejedlik, P., Kumar, S., Lalic, B., Mestre, A., Rossi, F., Kozyra, J., Alexandrov, V., Semerádová, D. & Žalud, Z. (2011). Agroclimatic conditions in Europe under climate change. *Global Change Biology*, 17(7), 2298-2318.
- Van den Berg, F., Tiktak, A., Heuvelink, G., Burgers, S., Brus, D., de Vries, F., Stolte, J. & Kroes, J. (2012). Propagation of uncertainties in soil and pesticide properties to pesticide leaching. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 41(1), 253-261.
- van der Linden, P. & Mitchell, J.F.B. (2009). ENSEMBLES: Climate change and its impacts: Summary of research and results from the ENSEMBLES project. FitzRoy Road, Exeter EX1 3PB, UK: Met Office Hadley Centre.
- van der Sluijs, J.P., Amaral-Rogers, V., Belzunces, L.P., Bijleveld van Lexmond, M.F.I.J., Bonmatin, J.-M., Chagnon, M., Downs, C., Furlan, L., Gibbons, D.W., Giorio, C., Girolami, V., Goulson, D., Kreutzweisser, D.P., Krupke, C., Liess, M., Long, E., McField, M., Mineau, P., Mitchell, J.F.B., Morrissey, C.A., Noome, D.A., Pisa, L., Settele, J., Simon-Delso, N., Stark, J.D., Tapparo, A., Van Dyck, H., van Praagh, J., Whitehorn, P.R. & Wiemers, M. (2015). Conclusions of the Worldwide Integrated Assessment on the risks of neonicotinoids and fipronil to biodiversity and ecosystem functioning. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 22, 148-154.
- Virgin, H. (2012). Grundvattenkvalitet i Skåne län utvärdering av regional provtagning 2007--2010. *Länsstyrelserapport*, 2. Länsstyrelsen i Skåne län, Malmö, Sweden.

- Von Götz, N. & Richter, O. (1999). Simulation of herbicide degradation in different soils by use of pedo-transfer functions (PTF) and non-linear kinetics. *Chemosphere*, 38(6), 1401-1407.
- Vonberg, D., Vanderborght, J., Cremer, N., Pütz, T., Herbst, M. & Vereecken, H. (2014). 20 years of long-term atrazine monitoring in a shallow aquifer in western Germany. *Water Research*, 50(0), 294-306.
- Vrugt, J.A., ter Braak, C.J.F., Gupta, H.V. & Robinson, B.A. (2009). Equifinality of formal (DREAM) and informal (GLUE) Bayesian approaches in hydrologic modeling? *Stochastic Environmental Research and Risk* Assessment, 23(7), 1011-1026.
- Vymazal, J. & Březinová, T. (2015). The use of constructed wetlands for removal of pesticides from agricultural runoff and drainage: A review. *Environment International*, 75, 11-20.
- Walker, A. (1974). A simulation model for prediction of herbicide persistence. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 3(4), 396-401.
- Walker, W.E., Harremoës, P., Rotmans, J., van der Sluijs, J.P., van Asselt, M.B., Janssen, P. & Krayer von Krauss, M.P. (2003). Defining uncertainty: a conceptual basis for uncertainty management in model-based decision support. *Integrated Assessment*, 4(1), 5-17.
- Wauchope, R.D. (1978). The Pesticide Content of Surface Water Draining from Agricultural Fields—A Review. Journal of Environmental Quality, 7, 459–472.
- Wauchope, R.D., Yeh, S., Linders, J.B.H.J., Kloskowski, R., Tanaka, K., Rubin, B., Katayama, A., Kördel, W., Gerstl, Z., Lane, M. & Unsworth, J.B. (2002). Pesticide soil sorption parameters: theory, measurement, uses, limitations and reliability. *Pest Management Science*, 58(5), 419-445.
- Wetterhall, F., Graham, L., Andréasson, J., Rosberg, J. & Yang, W. (2011). Using ensemble climate projections to assess probabilistic hydrological change in the Nordic region. *Natural Hazards and Earth System Science*, 11(8), 2295-2306.
- Wilby, R.C., SP; Zorita, E; Timbal,B; Whetton,P; Mearns, LO (2004). Guidelines for Use of Climate Scenarios Developed from Statistical Downscaling Methods, 27 pp. Supporting material of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.
- Wilby, R.L. & Dessai, S. (2010). Robust adaptation to climate change. *Weather*, 65(7), 180-185.
- Wilby, R.L. & Wigley, T.M.L. (1997). Downscaling general circulation model output: a review of methods and limitations. *Progress In Physical Geography*, 21(4), 530-548. Wirsenius, S., Azar, C. & Berndes, G. (2010). How much land is needed for global food production under scenarios of dietary changes and livestock productivity increases in 2030? *Agricultural Systems*, 103(9), 621-638.
- WMO (2015). http://www.wmo.int/pages/themes/climate/climate_projections.php [2015-02-13].
- Worrall, F. & Kolpin, D.W. (2003). Direct assessment of groundwater vulnerability from single observations of multiple contaminants. *Water Resources Research*, 39(12), 1345.

- Worrall, F., Parker, A., Rae, J. & Johnson, A. (1997). The role of earthworm burrows in pesticide transport from ploughlands. *Toxicological & Environmental Chemistry*, 61(1-4), 211-222.
- Worrall, F., Parker, A., Rae, J. & Johnson, A. (1999). A study of suspended and colloidal matter in the leachate from lysimeters and its role in pesticide transport. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 28(2), 595-604.
- Yang, W., Andreasson, J., Graham, L.P., Olsson, J., Rosberg, J. & Wetterhall, F. (2010). Distribution-based scaling to improve usability of regional climate model projections for hydrological climate change impacts studies. *Hydrology Research*, 41(3-4), 211-229.
- Åkesson, M., Bendz, D., Carlsson, C., Sparrenbom, C.J. & Kreuger, J. (2014). Modelling pesticide transport in a shallow groundwater catchment using tritium and helium-3 data. *Applied Geochemistry*, 50, 231-239.
- Åkesson, M., Sparrenbom, C.J., Carlsson, C. & Kreuger, J. (2013). Statistical screening for descriptive parameters for pesticide occurrence in a shallow groundwater catchment. *Journal of Hydrology*, 477, 165-174.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank the Swedish Farmer's Foundation of Agricultural Research (SLF) for financing this research project. I also want to express my gratitude to all the people who contributed in one way or another to the stimulating and exciting "journey" of my PhD-work. In particular, I want to thank:

- First of all, my main supervisor, Lisbet Lewan, for always being available, encouraging me and guiding me patiently, not only scientifically, through this PhD-project. I enjoyed your enthusiasm and energy very much, benefited from the open and stimulating scientific discussions we had and from your ability to set boundaries wherever they were needed. Thank you for your trust, honest feedbacks and all the useful tips I got during the years. I am proud to be a member of the "BGF"!
- My co-supervisor Nick Jarvis for the prompt and extensive scientific support during these years – not to mention all the time spend on helping with writing and language checks.
- My other co-supervisors Mats Larsbo, Erik Kjellström and Jenny Kreuger for the stimulating discussions, the scientific inputs in the planning and writing and the technical or practical help wherever needed.
- Julien for your invaluable technical support, help with R, and graphical advices that simplified the modelling work and improved the appearance of the results considerably.
- Bodil Lindström for extra efforts in finalizing and providing the monitoring database.
- The colleagues I successively and joyfully shared an office with: Dennis, Geka, Carmen, and Elsa. You made my days at work very nice and me happy! I enjoyed all the good discussions we had about research, society in general, environmental questions in particular and about life outside work. Thank you for the valuable tips, your support and friendship throughout the years!

- My "lunch-gänget", with whom I spent many enjoyable and lively discussions during lunch. Thanks to Elsa, Frank, John, Julien, Mats, Nick, and Stefan; as well as to Anke, Daniel, Harald, Karin, Lisbet and Tobias who occasionally joined us. Thank you also for changing my mind at many nice dinner, game and pub-evenings – in Uppsala and at various conferences!
- All my former and current colleagues within the "BGFVV" division for the good working environment and for unforgettable parties, dinners (thanks particularly to Helena for welcoming me in Sunnersta), barbecues, birthday and other "fika" occasions; introductions to Swedish nature and traditions (thanks to Karin for a wonderful Easterday in Blekinge), birdwatching, sport-excursions and sport events ("stegtävlingen", innebandy, Blodomloppet, Aka-rodden, beach-handball). Kristina, thank you for introducing me to your "korplag", I am happy to be part of the team now!
- My current and former PhD-student fellows for sharing the good and the less good experiences of PhD-students life during fika or in the corridors, for making me laugh and for making me realize how lucky I was: at least modelling makes it possible to repeat experiments when things go wrong ©
- Anna Mårtensson, Johan Arvidsson and Jon-Petter Gustavsson for valuable comments on my thesis.
- My colleagues within the MVM-cluster for interesting seminars and in particular the Uncertainty Journal Club for many stimulating discussions.
- > Ing-Marie for regular support with administrative issues.
- Ragnar and Håkan for taking care of my laptop and the "simulationcomputers", whenever it was needed.
- My friends at the rowing club for all the great memories I have from rowing and other sport or "after-workout" activities. It gave me a very good balance in life.
- Jenna and Kathrin, thank you for friendship, helping hands, encouraging words, and many happy, joyful and funny moments! Thanks also to your partners Sam & Hannes for their help and food supplies.
- Last, but not least, my family. I want to thank all of you for your continuous support, encouragement, and your love. Bisoux!